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OVERVIEW

The IASB’s Conceptual Framework belongs to the family of conceptual
frameworks for financial reporting that have been developed by accounting
standard-setters in a number of countries where accounting standard-setting is
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carried out by a private sector body. On one level, such conceptual frameworks
may be considered attempts to assemble a body of accounting theory (or interre-
lated concepts) as a guide to standard-setting, so that standards are (as far as
possible) formulated on a consistent basis and not in an ad hoc manner. On
another but complementary level, they may be thought of as devices to confer
legitimacy and authority on a private sector standard-setter that lacks the legal
authority of a public body. The IASC, as a private sector standard-setter shared
these reasons for developing a conceptual framework. '

Conceptual frameworks developed by accounting standard-setters are es-
sentially based on identification of “good practice” from which principles “
derived inductively. The criteria for identifying “good practice” are 1‘elateIzI to ;11'9
assumed objectives of financial reporting. At the same time, attention is paid te
conce_ptulal coherence, and the development process typicaliy involves ”cltj)n .
tual t1dy1ng up.” Conceptual frameworks may be written in a prescriptive s(icejf-
or a c%escrlptive style, or a mixture of the two. Whatever the stylep the -
esselntlally rlzomative, since they seek to provide a set of principles as ;1 uijgl a:e
setting a‘nd nterpreting accounting standards. Such guidance, however go ot
necessarily preclude a standard being issued that, for corirlpellin ’ra o ngt
reasons, departs from a principle set out in the applicable concep’tual%rfme%l\:é?‘kc

. IAT;];e IASB’S Conceptual Framework is written in a descriptive style (in fact, it
]135 ' poh.cy to use ﬂ_1e ‘word “shall” only in standards) and seeks to avc:id
eing excessively prescriptive. A principal reason for this is that it needs to have

broad international applicabili : .
fhen TASC stated: pplicability. In the final paragraph of the Framework, the

g;; alirgéngwor?clls epphcable to a range of accounting models and provides

aganee Cr}ll preparing and presenting the financial statements construciad

i Dfosljgcmodel. fAt_the present time [1989], it is not the intenticn of

i to prescribe a particular model other than in exceptional
umstances, such as . . . a hyperinflationary economy.

In common with other conce X
. . ptual frameworks, notably the FASB’s
Statements of Fm'anaal Accounting Concepts, the IASB’s Conieptual Framesvitoflf
covers the following topics in chapters as follows:

1. Objective of ﬁ:nancial general purpose financial reporting. The Framework
takes t.he p_os1ti0n that, because investors are providers of risk capital to
an enhtyf financial statements that meet existing and potential imﬁesto s’
needs will also meet most of the needs of other users that financ;al
§tatement§ ca.p satisfy. On that basis, the objective of financial statements
is to prm'nde‘z information about the financial position, performance, and
Changfes in flrllancial position of an entity that is useful to a wide ranf e of
users in making economic decisions, including assessment of the s%ew-
Erdskup or accountability of management. The Framework states as

}Jnderlymg assumptions” that, in order to meet their objectives, finan-
cial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accountiiil d
(normally) on the “going concern” basis. i

2. The reporting entity: This chapter has not yet been included.
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3. Qualitative characteristics of financial statement information. The Conceptual
Framework cites two main qualitative characteristics: relevance and faith-
ful representation. Comparability, verifiability, timeliness and under-
standability are qualitative characteristics that enhance the usefulness of
information that is relevant and faithfully represented. Materiality is
mentioned as an aspect of relevance. IAS 1, “Presentation of Financial
Statements,” mentions “fair presentation” rather than “faithful represen-
tation” as a requirement (see below).

4. This chapter contains the remaining text of the previous Framework and
states the underlying assumption of (general purpose) financial state-
ments as that of a “going concern.” Following are these sections of the
Framework:

(a) Elements of financial statements. The Framework relates the elements
to the measurement of financial position and performance. As ele-
miends of financial position, it provides definitions of assets, liabili-
sies, and equity; and as elements of performance, it defines income
(including revenue and gains) and expenses (including losses). The
definitions given in the section on elements, and especially those of
assets and liabilities, are the core of the Framework as a prescriptive
basis for standard-setting.

(b) Principles for recognition of the elements. The Framework states that
recognition is the process of recording in the financial statements
(subject to materiality) an item that meets the definition of an
element and satisfies the two criteria for recognition, namely, (a) it
is probable that any future economic benefit associated with the item
will flow to or from the entity and (b) the item has a cost or value
that can be measured with reliability. Assessments of the degree of
probability of the flow of future economic benefits “are made when
the financial statements are prepared.”

(c) Bases for measurement of the elements. Unlike the section in which the
elements of financial statements are defined, the treatment of mea-
surement in the IASC’s Framework avoids being prescriptive. It
cites a number of different measurement bases and notes that the
basis most commonly adopted is historical cost, usually combined
with other bases.

The Framework also covers another topic, which is not necessarily dealt
with specifically in other conceptual frameworks:

(d) Concepts of capital and capital maintenance. The treatment of capital mainte-
nance in the Framework also avoids being prescriptive. It distinguishes
between (a) financial capital maintenance, in two forms, nominal (i.e., mone-
tary units) or real (units of constant purchasing power) and (b) physical
capital maintenance or operating capability. It states that the physical capital
maintenance concept requires the use of a particular measurement basis,
namely current cost, whereas neither form of the financial capital mainte-
nance concept requires any particular measurement basis. It also states the
implications of each concept of capital maintenance for profit measurement.
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BACKGROUND

The origins of the Framework go back to 1982, when the then TASC initiated a
limited study on the objectives of financial statements. The IASC stated at that
time, however, that it did not intend to prepare an “international conceptual
framework.” The FASB had already issued in 1978 its SFAC 1, “Objectives of
Financial Reporting by Business Enterprises,” and in 1980 its SFACs 2 and 3 on
“Qualitative Characteristics” and “Elements.” In 1982 — 1984, the FASB’s Con-
ceptual Framework project was encountering some difficulties in dealing with
issues of recognition and measurement.

In 1984, the then TASC decided to revise IAS 1, “Disclosure of Accounting
Policies,” published in 1974, and it was also decided to merge the objectives
project with this revision. In 1984 and 1985, new projects were started covering
liabilities, equity and assets, and expenses. The decision to merge these into a
Framework project occurred in November 1986, and the proposed revision of IAS
1 was deferred. The Framework was intended to be separate from the TASs and
to avoid binding the IASC to particular accounting treatments in IASs. It was
approved and issued in April 1989. Work is in progress on a joint IASB-FASB
project to develop a common Conceptual Framework of which two chapters, as
summarized above, have been completed.

The status of the Framework vis-a-vis IASB GAAP may be compared with
that of the FASB’s SFACs vis-a-vis U.S. GAAP, as follows. As noted above, the
IASC did not intend the Framework to be binding on it in its capacity as a
standard-setter, just as the SFACs are not binding on the FASB in its standard-
setting capacity. However, the Framework has been quite influential in +he
development of IASs and IFRSs and in major revisions. For example, its defini-
tions (and especially those of assets and liabilities) were highly influentiat.in the
preparation of IFRS 3, “Business Combinations”; IAS 37, “Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets”; IAS 38, “Intangible Assets”;‘ard IAS 39,
“Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.”

The Framework is not an IAS or IFRS and does not override any specific IAS
or IFRS; in case of conflict between it and an IAS, the requirements of the latter
prevail. One may, however, consider the Framework as embodying IASB GAAP in
respect of issues that are not dealt with in any IAS. For example, in the case of topics
that have not yet been the subject of an IAS or IFRS, the purpose of the
Framework is to assist preparers in dealing with such topics. Moreover, the IASB
will be guided by the Framework in the development of future IFRSs and in
reviewing existing ones, so that the number of cases of conflict between the
Framework and IASs or IFRSs is likely to diminish over time. The Framework
itself will be subject to revision in light of experience.

The relationship between the Framework and IAS 1, “Presentation of Finan-
cial Statements,” is worthy of comment in the context of the comparison of IASB
GAAP with US. GAAP. As noted above, originally the start of work on what
became the Framework was linked to the revision of IAS 1. This revision was
then deferred and not completed until 1997. The revised IAS 1 is a major
standard that supersedes the former IASs 1, 5, and 13 (see Chapter 4). Although
the Framework does not have the status of a standard, it and IAS 1 (revised) may
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e extent be considered as complementary. The Framework itself does not
e ith U.S. GAAP in any important respect, but IAS 1 does. Its paragraphs
e wicain a; brovision to the effect that a specific requirement of an IAS may
b an departed from “in extremely rare circumstances . . . wheg the treatmfant
= tO deb Iihe standard is clearly inappropriate and thus a falr‘ Presentgtlon
22?;1(;? be e?::hieved either by applying the standard or ﬂm)u%h a;id{?gnél :;S;I;

7 This i -called “override,” which is quite alien to U.5.
;t;it?ignff. 1"L(P3rt1’1 ggcfoiig to Rule 203 of the AICPA Code of Ethics) in theory. The

ride i i i tances require it.
override is mandatory if the circums :

While the override represents a major dirferenF:e between IASB GAA]; flnci
U.S. GAAP in principle, the restrictions placed on its use by IAS 1 suggest tha
tﬂere should not be many cases of it in practice.

REVISION AMD REPLACEMENT OF THE FRAMEWORK BY THE
CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK )
¢ joi ing the common Conceptual Framewor
;T;i’fi?s.i?‘;{joiﬁsaz ;1:1‘%05? tt]i}lfed;r\c’)eclgsi 0% convergence between ‘fhe two sets of
GA AL This project is divided into eight phases, A to H, as follows:
(A) Objectives and qualitative characteristics
(B) Elements, recognition, and measurement
(C) Measurement
(D) Reporting entity
(F) Presentation and disclosure
(F) Purpose and status
(G) Application to not-for-profit entities
(H) Finalization | -
Progress is slow. The Conceptual Fram.ework, as pu{:hsh_ed in ’fhe IIFRS COll.’ltI;ai]il-
dium for 2014, which is relevant until further notice, is obviously a par \4

revised, indeed hybrid, document.

A table of concordance between this (hopetully, Femporary) VerSiont;:dntjl‘i
original 1989 Framework is given as follows. In this chapter we use

reference details throughout.

Table of Concordance
This table shows how the contents of the Framework (1989) and the Conceptual

Framework (2010) correspond.

Framework (1989) paragraphs Conceplual Framework 2010 paragraphs

Preface and introd;_czti:)n paragraphs 1-5 Super;;;?;t;;tgzapter 1
22 Not carried forward
23 41
24-46 Superseded by Chapter 3
47-110 Chapter 4
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Framework (1989) paragraphs Conceptual Framework 2010 paragraphs

47,48 4.2,4.3
49-52 4.4-47
53-59 4.8-4.14
60-64 4.15-4.19
65-68 4.20-4.23
69-73 4.24-4.28
74-77 4.29-4.32
78-80 4.33-4.35
81 4.36
82-84 4.37-4.39
85 4.40
86-88 4.41-4.43
89, 90 4.44, 4.45
91 4.46
92,93 4.47,4.48
94-98 4.49-4.53
99-101 4.54-4.56
102, 103 4.57, 4.58
104-110 4.59-4.65

Purpose and Status

The Framework does not have the status of an IAS, does not override any
specific IAS, and in case of conflict between the Framework and an IAS, the latter
prevails. The purpose of the Framework is to:

® Assist the Board in the development of future IASs and in its review of
existing IASs;

* Help the Board to promote harmonization of regulafitris, accounting
standards and procedures relating to the presentation of financial state-

ments by providing a basis for reducing the number of alternative ac-
counting treatments permitted by [ASs;

® Assist national standard-setting bodies in developing national standards;

* Aid preparers of financial statements in applying IASs and in dealing
with topics that have yet to form the subject of an IAS;

® Assist auditors in forming an opinion as to whether financial statements
conform with IASs;

® Help users of financial statements to interpret the information contained
in financial statements prepared in conformity with IASs;

* Provide those who are interested in the work of the IASC with informa-
tion about its approach to the formulation of accounting standards.

In the Basis of Conclusions to the (new) Conceptual Framework, the TASB
states that the Conceptual Framework “establishes an objective of financial

reporting and not just of financial statements,” unlike the original Framework
that “dealt with financial statements only.”
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Scope
The scope of the Framework deals with the:
e Objective of financial reporting; |
 Qualitative characteristics that determine the usefulness of financial state-
ment information;
s Definition, recognition, and measurement of financial statement elements;
and
e Concepts of capital and capital maintenance.

CHAPTER 1: THE OBJECTIVE OF GENERAL PURPOSE
FINANCIAL REPORTING

In the new Chapter 1, “The Objective of General Purpose Financial Reporting,”
the determined use of the singular in the title is 1‘10tab!e. The fqrmal statement
(par. OB2) is tiiaithe objective of general purpose fma{lcml reporting (GPFR) is to
provide financ.al information about the mportmg ent1_ty that is usefu} .to existing
and potential investors, lenders, and other crgd.ltors.m making c.lemsmns. about
provididg resources to the entity. These dec1s.1orlls mvolve.buymg, selling, or
holding equity and debt instruments, and providing or settling loans and other
fhrms of credit.

These specified users require information to help ther‘n assess the prospects
for future net cash flows to the entity. This, in turr}, requires 111f0m}ajc10n about
the resources of the entity, claims against the entity, and howiefﬁmently an‘d
effectively the entity’s management (broadly defined) have discharged their
duties to use the entity’s resources (pars OB 3-4).

More clearly than in its 1989 document, the IASB spells ouz th_e purposes {’
users, which are not included by the above (pars. OB 5-10). The “primary users”
of GPFRs are those “existing and potential investors, lenders_ and other credltors:
who cannot force reporting entities to provide information beyond what is
revealed in the GPFRs. However, GPFRs will need to be ?,Eipplemented from
other sources, for example, relating to economic and political ‘developments
broadly considered. It is explicitly stated that GPFRs are not des1gT_1ed to show
the value of the reporting entity; rather, their purpose is to provide relevant
information to help others determine the reporting entity’s value. An even more
explicit exclusion is in paragraph OB 10.

Other parties, such as regulators and members of the public other than

investors, lenders and other creditors, may also find GPFRs useful. However,
those reports are not primarily directed to these other groups.

OBSERVATION: This last point is particularly significant, as there has been
much criticism from regulators and politicians in recent years (in both Europe and
the United States, and against both the IASB and FASB) t_hat puphshed GPFHs
have failed regulators, in general, and banking regulators, in particular. This is in
one sense factually correct, but the fault lies entirely with the regulators for
misusing, perhaps simply not being professicnally competent enough to under-
stand, the information contained in the GPFRs.
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The remaining part of Chapter 1, pars. OB12-OB21, consists of a convern-
tional summary of the ways of providing relevant information. Information
about economic resources and claims is provided in a balance sheet/statement of
financial position, allowing a focus on liquidity, solvency, and financing. Infor-
mation about changes in economic resources can focus on an entity’s own
financial/economic operating performance, through an income statement reflect-
ing accrual accounting, and on external changes, for example, the raising of new
external finance by debt or equity. Further, information about cash movements is
very important, via a statement of cash flows.

CHAPTER 2: THE REPORTING ENTITY

An exposure draft of this chapter, ED/2010/2, The Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting—The Reporting Entity, was published in March 2010, but it has
not been finalized (see below).

CHAPTER 3: QUALITATIVE CHARACTERISTICS OF USEFUL
FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Chapter 3, “Qualitative Characteristics of Useful Financial Information,” of the
Conceptual Framework, finalized in 2010, logically follows the (currently non-
existent) Chapter 2, which will discuss the definition of, and, in particular, the
boundaries of, the “Reporting Entity.” Chapter 3 covers similar ground to pare.
24-46 of the 1989 Framework, but there are several significant changes. Thiese
changes have caused much discussion, debate, and criticism during the long
gestation period of this material. The most significant changes are of emission:
the concepts, or at least the words, of reliability and providence have both
disappeared. Reliability is in effect replaced by “faithful representation,” which is
upgraded in importance, as discussed below.

Two “fundamental” qualitative characteristics are presented: relevance and
faithful representation (pars. QC5-16).

Relevant financial information is capable of making a difference in the
decisions made by users. Information may be capable of making a difference in a
decision even if some users choose not to take advantage of it, or are already
aware of it from other sources. Financial information is capable of making a
difference in decisions if it has predictive value, confirmatory value, or both.

Financial information has predictive value if it can be used as an input to
processes employed by users to predict future outcomes. Financial information
need not be a prediction or forecast to have predictive value. Financial informa-
tion has confirmatory value if it provides feedback about (either confirms or
changes) previous evaluations.

The Board notes, regarding materiality, that it is an entity-specific concept,
and no proposed “qualitative threshold” would be rational. Information is mate-
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rial if omitting it or misstating it could influence decisions that users make on the
basis of financial information about a specific reporting entity.

The Board introduces faithful representation by noting that financial_repoyts
represent economic phenomena in words and numbers. To be use‘ful, fmancllal
information must not only represent ‘relevant phenomena, but it mustf atsl,o
faithfully represent the phenomena that it purports to 1‘epresen‘tl. Tp be a per 16(:; by
faithful representation, a depiction would have three chall‘acte'nstlcs. It wgfu e
complete, neutral, and free from error. Of course, perfection is ‘seldom_, i ever;
achievable. The Board's objective is to maximize th-ose qualities to the extfen

ossible. A complete depiction includes all mformgtlon necessary for a .1-159‘1 to
understand the phenomenon being depicted, including all necessary descriptions
and explanations.

A neutral depiction is without bias in the seiection_ or presentatio_n of
financial inforration. A neutral depiction is not slanted, we1ghteF1: emphas'med,
de-emphasized or otherwise manipulated to increase the probability that finan-
cial informiat:on will be received favorably by users.

aivhiul representation does not mean accurate in .alllrespects. Free from
ericr rreans there are no errors or omissions in the_ descnpi}mn of the phenome-
non, and the process used to produce the reported information has been selected
and applied with no errors. In this context, free from error does not mean
perfectly accurate in all respects.

In its “Basis for Conclusions” document issued at the same time as the
revised Chapter 3, the IASB discussed and clefgnds the chang?s {I}ade as com-
pared with 1989. Previously, representational fal‘thf'u.hless, Verlflablht.y, Qr}d neu-
trality were aspects of (i.e., subservient to) reliability. Verbally, reh.abﬂ'lfcy and
representational faithfulness have firstly been reversed, and thi.a]?l rel1ab111’Fy h'as
been transposed into verifiability (discussed be!ow). The proposition, never ﬁ.ute
clearly stated, seems to be that if “information is complete, neut{al and free from
error” (see above characteristics of faithful representation), then it 1;[11'.13’: autom;:llt-
ically be reliable (in the general sense that it “can be dependfad on” in the words
of 1989). Therefore reliability is unnecessary as a separate notion. The proposition
seems defensible.

“Substance over form” similarly disappears as being redunfiant, giver} faith-
ful representation. Prudence disappears, as being inconsistent with neutrality.

OBSERVATION: It is difficult to disagree with the analytical Io_gic behind all
this. But some long-cherished beliefs in some quariers are bgmg ruthlessly
assaulted. We would suggest that the real issue is not the dropping of conceptls
or words. Rather, it is the continued emphasis on external, independent, _supph-
ers of finance to entities, rather than more closely connected sources of flngnce
such as family or banks. The full implications of _Chapter '1 of the revised
Concepiual Framework, and what it does not say, is discussed in Chapter 4.

The Board sums up the implications in practice, as follows (par. QC18):

ici i i 1 qualita-
The most efficient and effective process for applying the fundamental g
tive characteristics would usually be as follows (subject to the eftects of
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enhancing characteristics and the cost constraint, which are not considered in
this example). First, identify an economic PhIEHO_mEHQTl that has the potential
to be useful to users of the reporting entity’s financial information. Second,
identify the type of information about that phenomenon that would be most
relevant if it is available and can be faithfully rep_rgsented. Third, determine
whether that information is available and can be faithfully represented. If so,
the process of satisfying the fundamental qualitative, characteristics ends at
that point. If not, the process is repeated with the next most relevant type of
information.

The remaining paragraphs of Chapter 3 discuss several sub-characteristics, called
“enhancing qualitative characteristics” that enhance the usefulness of informa-
tion that is relevant and faithfully represented. Note that they cannot, by them-
selves, make information useful if it is not already properly regarded as relevant

and faithfully represented. These are comparability, verifiability, timeliness, and
understandability.

Comparability is the qualitative characteristic that enables users to identify
and understand similarities in, and differences among, items. Unlike the other
qualitative characteristics, comparability does not relate to a single item, as a
comparison requires at least two items.

Consistency, although related to comparability, is not the same. Consistency
refers to the use of the same methods for the same items, either from period to
period within a reporting entity or in a single period across entities. Comparabil-
ity is the goal; consistency helps to achieve that goal.

Comparability is not uniformity. For information to be comparable, similar
items must appear similar and different items must appear different. Compara-
bility of financial information is not enhanced by making dissimilar items appear
similar any more than it is enhanced by making similar items appear different.

Verifiability helps assure users that information faithfully revresents the
economic phenomena it purports to represent. Verifiability mear.s that different
knowledgeable and independent observers could reach consensus; although not
necessarily complete agreement, that a particular depiction is a faithful represen-
tation. Quantified information need not be a single point estimate to be verifia-

ble. A range of possible amounts and the related probabilities can also be
verified.

Timeliness means having information available to decision-makers in time to
be capable of influencing their decisions. Generally, the older the information is,
the less useful it is. However, some information may continue to be timely long
after the end of a reporting period because, for example, some users may need to
identify and assess trends.

Classifying characteristics and presenting information clearly and concisely
makes it understandable. Some phenomena are inherently complex and cannot be
made easily understandable. Excluding this information from financial reports
might make the information easier to understand; however, the information
would be incomplete and, therefore, potentially misleading.

Financial reports are prepared for users who have a reasonable knowledge
of business and economic activities and who review and analyze the information
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ularly. At times, even well-informed, diligent users may need to seek the aid
E)E;in adviser to understand complex economic phenomena.

Finally in this section, the Board notes that cost is a pervasive constraint on

information that can be provided by financial reporting. Repc.)rtuTg‘ financial
?jormation imposes costs, and it is important that those costs are justified by the
benefits of reporting that information.

Because of the inherent subjectivity, different i.ndivifiusf\ls’ assess.sment%of the
ts and benefits of reporting particular items of fmangal 'mform_atlon will vary.
e f the Board seeks to consider costs and benefits in relation to fma1'1§1al
Thert? - enerally, and not solely in relation to individual reporting entities.
reP.OIg negs iot indic’ate that assessments of costs and benefits always jus.tlfy the
;I:ri‘fe 1'2p0rting requirements for all entitiej_a._ Diffe.rences may be ?pp}'(?pnac’f, ift(;li
example, because of different sizes of entities, different ways of raising cap
(publicly or privately), or different users’ needs.

CHAPTER 4: THE REMAINING TEXT

The resaning text of the Conceptual Framework (2010) cogsists of unaltfar@.d
ma‘el,:;l from 1989. Paragraph 4.1 explains the concept of going concern, trans-
posed from an earlier position in 1989.

The financial statements are normally prepared on the a§51.‘1131pt1;m thatel l:?lre:
entity is a going concern and will continue in opclerahfm or the -ores?; e
future. Hence, it is assumed that the entity has neither theﬂ mte_nt.l?; 1:1 or the
need to liquidate or curtail materially the scale of 1ts' oper a}t)lons, arsed e
intention or need exists, the financial statements may have to be prep

different basis and, if so, the basis used is disclosed.

The whole of the remainder follows the 1989 version exactly, in content and in
sequence.

THE ELEMENTS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The section of the Framework concerning the elements of financial stai.:emer}tsl,
(pars. 4.2-4.35) consists essentially of definitions of the elements of financia
statements as identified by the Framework.

OBSERVATION: As noted in the Overview, the definitions given in tl::s
section, and especially those of assets and Iiab_nlmes, are the core of t _P:
Framework as a prescriptive basis for standard-setting. Tr!e section on F_iecoglnl
tion of Elements (pars. 4.37—4.53, see below) reinforces this core. In particular:

1. The Framework defines income and expenses in termg of increase;s
and decreases in economic benefits that are equated with changes in
assets and liabilities;

2. The latter are defined in terms of “resources co_ntrolled” and “present
obligations” to exclude some of the t_gp_es of items that have ilr)egn
previously recognized as assets or liabilities (accruals and deferrals) in
the name of “maitching” expenses and revenues; and

3. The effect of these tighter definitions, logether_ with those of the recog-
nition criteria set out in the section on recognition, can be seen particu-
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larly in the implications of the definition of a liability for the recognition of
provisions (see Chapters 8 and 29 on IFRS 3 and IAS 37), and in the
implications of the definition of an asset for the recognition of intangible
items (see Chapters 8 and 22 on IFRS 3 and IAS 38).

There is an overlap between definitions and recognition criteria, since satis-
fying the definition of an element is the principal criterion for recognition. The

Framework, however, seeks to distinguish definition issues from recognition
isstuies as far as possible.

The Framework relates the elements of financial statements to the measure-
ment of financial position and performance. As elements of financial position (in
the balance sheet), it provides definitions of assets, liabilities, and equity; and as
elements of performance (in the income statement), it defines income, including
revenue and gains, and expenses, including losses. As for the statermnent of
changes in financial position, this “usually reflects income statement elements
and changes in balance sheet elements,” and so the Framework does not identify
any elements associated uniquely with this statement (par. 4.2).

Financial Position

The elements considered to be “directly related to the measurement of financial
position” are assets, liabilities, and equity, which are defined as follows (par. 4.4):

1. An asset is a resource (a) controlled by the enterprise, (b) as a result of
past events, and (c) from which future economic benefits are expected to
flow to the enterprise. Recognition as an asset thus requires that thc
three components of the definition, (a), (b), and (c), be satisfied.

2. A liability is (a) a present obligation of the enterprise, (b) arigingout of
past events, (c¢) the settlement of which is expected to result in an
outflow from the enterprise of resources embodying economic benefits.
Recognition as a liability thus requires that the three components of the
definition, (a), (b), and (c), be satisfied.

3. Equity is defined as the residual interest in the assets of the enterprise
after deducting all its liabilities.

OBSERVATION: Financial position comprises a number of atiributes, in-
cluding liquidity, solvency, leverage, asset structure, reserves available to cover
dividends, and so forth. While each of these attributes may be measured, it is not
clear what is meant by “measurement” of financial position as such, which is the

terminology used in paragraph 4.4. A term such as “evaluation of financial
position” would be more usual.

Merely satisfying the above definitions does not entail recognition, as the
recognition criteria in pars. 4.37-4.53 must also be satisfied, and also the principle
of “substance over form” must be respected. For example, this principle requires
fixed assets held under finance leases to be recognized by the lessee as fixed

assets (with corresponding leasing liabilities), while the lessor recognizes a
financial asset (pars. 4.5-4.6).
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Balance sheets drawn up in accordance. with “current” Iﬁ;?.s‘may E,nihiﬁz
i the treatment of which does not sat1sfy .the above definitions, bu -
it s will underlie “future” reviews of existing standards and ’Fhe formu a
d.eﬂmtlon ones (par. 4.7). As noted above, the TASC acted accordingly, and it
thILJOdf 11:11;‘: be unusual to find an item whose treatment according to a current
IVX)S would conflict with the definitions.

Assets

The “future economic benefit embodied in an asset” is defined as ”thg p;)teghfg
to contribute, directly or indirectly, to the flow of cash and cash Eq}uva ez 5
the enterprise,” including “a capability to reduce cash outﬂows.. ._ ntca:sd fhat
definition should leave the status of cash itself as an asset ur.1c1ear, itiss ate at
cash satisfies this definition, because it “renders a service to the enterpr e
because of its command over other resources.”.Assets embody future ec?nor_m
benefits that niay flow to the enterprise by having one or more of Eliqet foi :ﬁ?i
capabilities: {2 being exchanged for other (f;lssrets; (b) being use b9ﬁt'e5 e
liability;er {(¢) being distributed to the enterprise’s owners (tlrllreel capabiliti tny
cash consoicuously possesses); as well as that of being used singly gr in Tgrg o
tiori with other assets in the production of goods and services to be sold by
enterprise (pars. 4.8-4.10).

Neither having physical form, nor being the object of a right of ownersh}pl,llz
an essential attribute of an asset. Intangible iterns.such as patents anc(ii c?opgrig e
may satisfy the definition of an asset, as may a fixed asset held un eldabma;ind
lease (by virtue of which it is a resource controlled though not pwneM Y, e
from which future benefits are expected to flow to, the entltg?‘. N oreofvan,
knowledge obtained from development activity may meet ‘thi1 de' ]I\ilt}OIjll 1:_) oo
asset (capitalized development costs) even thgugh neither p‘gisu:a h(ﬁl n e
legal ownership is involved, provided the-re is de facto confnof_ Sutcl ] e,ex}i
keeping the knowledge secret, the enterprise controls the benefits that ar
pected to flow from it (pars. 4.11-4.12).

Assets may result from various types O.f past transactions and gﬂleé: pg;:
events. Normally, these are purchase transactions and the events assofmate w;n !
production; but they may include donation (fqr example, i?y way of a dgc;\zfure
ment grant) or discovery (as in the case of mineral deposits). Expgcte 1tract
transactions or events do not give rise to assets; for examplle, a bmdu}g con i
by an enterprise to purchase inventory does no'F cause the mve.ntory m quesf "
to meet the definition of an asset of that enterprise unfal the. purchase transac 1(:[
that fulfils the contract has occurred. While expend1tu1"e is a common Wf:\}tijl (o
acquire or generate an asset, expenditure unde‘rtaken with a view to gtlanei_? ﬂlge
future economic benefits may fail to result in an asset, for example, if t
intended economic benefits cannot be expected or are not controlled by the entity
(pars. 4.13-4.14).

Liabilities

An essential characteristic of (or necessary condi?ionl for? B liability i-s that th_e
entity should have a “present obligation.” An obligation is “a duty or responsi
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bility to act or perform in a certain way.” The duty or r65p0ns-ibility may arise
from the law, for example, the law of contract; or it may arise jfrom normal
business practice, which leads to legitimate expectations that the entity will act or
perform in a certain way (that is, a constructive obligation). An example of the
latter is a constructive obligation to extend the benefits of a warranty for some
period beyond the contractual warranty period, because this is an established
practice (par. 4.15).

A present obligation (in the relevant sense) is not the same as a future
commitment. An entity may have a commitment to purchase an asset in the
future at an agreed price; however, this does not entail a net outflow of resources.
The commitment does not give rise to a liability, which arises only when the
purchase has actually taken place and title in the asset has passed to the entity,
leaving the latter with an obligation to pay for it. In the case of a cash transaction,
no liability would arise (par. 4.16).

There are a number of ways in which a liability may be settled or dis-
charged, which include replacement by another obligation, conversion into eg-
uity, and the creditor waiving or forfeiting his rights. There are also various types
of “past transactions or past events” from which liabilities may result (pars. 4.17-
4.18). If a provision involves a present obligation and satisfies the rest of the
definition of a liability given in the Framework, it is a liability even if the amount
has to be estimated (par. 4.19).

OBSERVATION: Paragraph 4.19 does not emphasize the equally important
point that a provision that fails to satisfy the criterion of being an obligatior
arising from a past transaction or past event is not a liability. This point, however,
was crucial in arriving at the requirements for recognition of provisions in IAS 27,
“Provisions, Contingent Liabilities, and Contingent Assets” (see Chapter 28).

Equity

Paragraphs 4.20-4.23 are concerned with equity. The fact that equity is defined as
a residual interest (assets minus liabilities) does not mean that it cannot be
meaningfully divided into subclassifications that are shown separately in the
balance sheet. Examples are the differences among the following: (a) paid-in
capital (capital stock and paid-in surplus); (b) retained earnings; (c) reserves
representing appropriations of retained earnings; and (d) reserves representing
the amounts required to be retained in order to maintain “real” capital, that is,
either real financial capital or (real) physical capital.

There are various legal, tax, and valuation considerations that affect equity,
such as requirements for legal reserves, and whether or not the enterprise is
incorporated. It is emphasized that transfers to legal, statutory, and tax reserves
are appropriations of retained earnings and not expenses. (Likewise, releases
from such reserves are credits to retained earnings and not income, but this is not
spelled out.) The rather obvious point is made that the amount at which equity is
shown in the balance sheet is not intended to be a measure of the market value of
the entity, either as a going concern or in a piecemeal disposal. It is stated that
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the definition and treatment of equity in the Framework are appropriate for
unincorporated enterprises, even if the legal considerations are different.

performance

Paragraphs 4.24-4.36 contain the section of the Framework in wh‘ich deifiniﬁ.or_ls
of the financial statement elements relating to performancte are given. “Profit is
frequently used as a measure of performance or as the basis for other measures,
such as return on investment and earnings per sha}'e (Par. 4.24). However, this
section of the Framework does not discuss the relationship b:etween the _e}ements
of performance and the profit measure, except to say frhat the ].‘EFOgI’Ilthl‘l and
measurement of income and expenses, and hence profit, dept_and.s in part on the
concepts of capital and capital maintenance used ‘by the entity in preparing its
financial statements.” The determination of profit and related issues are dis-
cussed in a later-cection of the Framework (pars. 4.57-4.65).

The elerne its of income and expenses are defined as follows:

1./Tncome is increases in economic benefits during the accounting period in
the form of inflows or enhancements of assets or decreases of liabilities
that result in increases in equity, other than those relating to contribu-
tions from equity participants.

2. Expenses are decreases in economic benefits during tt}e accounting
period in the form of outflows or depletions of assets or incurrences of
liabilities that result in decreases in equity, other than those relating to
distributions to equity participants (par. 4.25).

These definitions identify the essential features of income and expenses but
do not attempt to specify their recognition criteria (par. 4.26).

OBSERVATION: The definitions given above make it clear that the Frame-
work’s approach treats the definitions of assets and liabilities as logically prior to
those of income and expenses. This is sometimes characterized as a “balanc_e
sheet approach” to the relationship between financial statements. This _term is
potentially misleading, however. The Framework’'s approach should certainly not
be understood as implying the subordination of the income statement to the
balance sheet from an informational perspective.

Income and expenses may be presented in different ways in t_he irltcome
statement in order to provide relevant information. An example given is the
distinction between items of income or expense that arise in the course of the
ordinary business activities of the particular entity and those that do not (a
distinction required by IAS 1, “Presentation of Financial Statements”; see Chapt.er
4). Combining items of income and expense in different ways also permits
different measures of entity performance to be provided. Examples are the
alternative income statement formats with different analyses of expenses, by
nature and by function (pars. 4.27-4.28). (These different formats are discussed in
IAS 1, pars. 102-103; see Chapter 4).
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Income

The Framework’s definition of income encompasses both revenue and gains,
Revenue is described as arising in the course of the ordinary activities of an
entity and includes sales, fees, interest, royalties, and rent. Gains may or may not
arise in the course of ordinary activities. Gains may arise on the disposal of non-
current assets and also include unrealized gains such as those arising on the
revaluation of marketable securities and from increases in the carrying amount of
long-term assets. Gains, when recognized in the income statement, are usually
displayed separately because their economic significance tends to differ from that
of tevenue, and they are often reported net of related expenses (pars. 4.29-4.32).

The counterpart entry corresponding to a credit for income may be to
various asset accounts (not only cash or receivables), or to a liability account such
as when a loan is discharged by the provision of goods or services.

Expenses

The Framework’s definition of expenses encompasses losses as well as expenses
that arise in the course of the ordinary activities of the enterprise. Examples
given of expenses that arise in the course of ordinary activities are cost of sales,
wages, and depreciation. They usually take the form (that is, are the accounting
counterpart) of an outflow or depletion of assets such as cash and cash
equivalents, inventory, property, or plant and equipment (par. 4.33).

Losses represent items that may or may not arise in the course of ordinary
activities. They include those that result from such disasters as fire or flood, as
well as those arising on the disposal of non-current assets, and also encomniss
unrealized losses, such as those arising from the effects of adverse cui cency
exchange rate movements on financial assets or liabilities. Losses, when recog-
nized in the income statement, are usually displayed separately because their
economic significance tends to differ from that of other expenses,and they are
often reported net of related income (pars. 4.34-4.35).

OBSERVATION: Paragraphs 4.31 and 4.35 contain the phrases “when
gains are recognized in the income statement” and “when losses are recognized
in the income statement.” IASs require or allow certain unrealized gains to be
included directly in equity (e.g., certain revaluation surpluses on non-current
assets and foreign exchange gains), or to have their recognition deferred until
realization occurs. 1ASs also require or allow certain losses, such as revaluation
losses and foreign exchange losses, to be included directly in equity. Thus, the

issue of recognition in the income statement needs to be considered in the
context of individual IASs.

Itis stated in paragraph 4.32 that “various kinds of assets may be received
or enhanced by income.” Likewise, expenses are described in paragraph 4.33 as
“usually tak(ing] the form of an outflow or depletion of assets. . ..” We believe
that such points are made more clearly by using the accounting relationships, in
virtue of which the income statement effect is the reflection or counterpart of
(rather than merely consisting of) the related balance sheet movement. The
importance of the accounting relationships in the context of recognition is men-
tioned in paragraph 4.39 (see below).
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1 intenance Adjustments
;ﬂpitgfiﬁaon equity of revaluations or restatements of assets a.ndr liabil-ities. mgft
g ork’s definitions of income and expenses, but their mclusmln in the
)'[he Framf:av:ement depends on which concept of capital maintenance is being
e ?par. 4.36). This matter is discussed further below.

RECOGNITION OF THE ELEMENTS OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Recognition issues are dealt with in paragraphs 4.37-4.53. Reco.gnitlonl is f—l;
i “the process of incorporating in the balance sheet or [the] incom
o ats n item that meets the definition of an element and sahsfles_the‘ criteria
statP:rnen 3rion set out in paragraph 4.38.” (The statement of changes in financial
. }?COgII}; not mentioned because its elements consist of thosg thgt are als_o
prSl’ﬂ(;I:S of financial position or performance.) Failure to recognize in the main
;rf;r};al staterzents items that satisfy the relevant defin‘Ltllon and reiognéi(:;oor;

criteria is mor rectified by disclos'ui'e of the accounting policies used or by u
notes orcther explanatory material. | ‘
The recognition criteria set out in paragraph'4.38la.1'e that an item which
mez’s the definition of an element should be 1'ec0gmze.d if: . .
1. It is probable that any future economic benefit associated with the item
will flow to or from the entity; and N
2. The item has a cost or value that can be measured with reliability.
Recognition is subject to materiality.lAccmmﬁng interrellatlontsiiutpsnzﬁsatlﬁoe
significant, since recognition in the financml‘statements of an item al e1 eets the
definition and recognition criteria for a particular element, for ]:xamp an ass é
entails the recognition of another _(counterpegrt) elemenf:, ‘5}13 as 1nggon ore
liability (par. 4.39). (This refers, strictly speaking, to the 1.111t1511. re::cognof n of an
item. However, a similar point could be made about the implications
urement or valuation adjustments.)

applied

The Probability of Future Economic Benefit

The concept of probability is used in the recognitior} criterla. “to refel" tto ghe ?ﬂig:ﬁi
of uncertainty [as to whether] the future economic benef'lts associa et w o
item will flow to or from the enterprise. . . in keegmg with the”uncer aun’fyt o
characterizes the environment in which an enterprise operates. 'Aslsessnlf'llz?l Sme
such uncertainty are made on the basis of the ev1_dence avaTlab e w1 o
financial statements are prepared. In regard to .recewabl‘es, for ltlexa?p e:?1 il
large population of accounts, some statistical evidence will usually be av
regarding collectibility (par. 4.40).
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OBSERVATION: The Framework does not offer any guidance, beyond that
mentioned above, on the interpretation of “probable.” 1AS 37, “Provisions, Con-
tingent Assets and Contingent Liabilities,” contains an interpretation of “probable”
as “more likely than not,” that is, a probability in excess of 50%, but states that
this interpretation is not intended to be applied in other contexts. Others have
suggested an interpretation of “probable” in the present context as a probability
of at least 75%. However, in the case of the receivables example mentioned
above, the allowance to be made for probably uncollectible accounts would

normally be based on past statistics, perhaps adjusted to take account of the
current economic environment.

Reliability of Measurement

Reliability, the second recognition criterion, was discussed in the section “Quali-
tative Characteristics of Financial Statements” above. If an item does not possess
a cost or value that can be measured with reliability (so that the information has
that qualitative characteristic), then it is not appropriate to recognize it. However,
in many cases, cost or (more particularly) value must be estimated; indeed, the
use of reasonable estimates is an essential part of the financial reporting process
and need not undermine reliability. In cases where an item satisfies the definition
of an element but not the recognition criteria, it will not be recognized in the
financial statements themselves, but its relevance is likely to require its disclosuve
in the notes to the financial statements or in other supplementary disclostizes.
This applies when the item meets the probability criterion of recognition bt not
the reliability criterion, but may also apply to an item that meets the definition of
an element when neither recognition criterion is met. The key issue here is
whether the item is considered to be relevant to the evaluatich 'of financial
position, performance, or changes in financial position. An item that does not
satisfy the recognition criteria for an asset or a liability at one time may do so
later, if more information relevant to estimating its probability, cost, or value
becomes available (pars. 4.41-4.43).

OBSERVATION: The concept of a “reasonable estimate” is clearly crucial in
the application of the reliability criterion, but the Framework gives no guidance on
how it is to be interpreted. While this will not generally be a problematic issue in
relation to the ascertainment of cost, estimating value can be problematic. This
issue is dealt with in individual 1ASs, such as the requirement for an active
market on which to base estimates in IAS 39, “Financial Instruments: Recogni-
tion and Measurement” (see Chapter 17).

On the issue of the retrospective recognition as an asset of an item of
expenditure that has previously been recognized as an expense, IAS 38, “Intan-
gible Assets” (see Chapter 22) does not permit the retrospective capitalization of
development costs ance they have been written off to expense.
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Recognition of Assets

asset is recognized in the balance sheet when 'it is probable that future
b nic benefits will flow to the entity (as a result of its control of the asset) and
econc;lset’s cost or value can be measured reliably. When expenditure has been
E::auired but it is not considered probable' that e‘conomic: ]?en.efits‘ will flow tq Z’chg
entity beyond the current accounting penpd, this expenditure .WIH be rec;gm tfl )
an expense, not as an asset. The intention of management in undertaking
2ipenditure is irrelevant (pars. 4.44-4.45).

Recognition of Liabilities

A liability is recognized in the balance sh‘eet When it is probable that an outtﬂ(;w
of resources embodying economic benefits will result from the se’ctlemen1 : % 1 a
present obligaticn and the amount of that s?ttlement can be meaSL}red ri letl y
Obligations pider executory contracts, that is, non-cancelable co;lnliiiicts t1 e]tg : le'ue
equally prnp;,:cionately unperformed (such-as the. amoupt that will be a lia 1 11’?/
when irtventory ordered and awaiting delivery is received), are not genera 271
recooinized as liabilities in the balance sheet, nor are the related assets recognize

in‘tho balance sheet. In some cases, however, recognition may be required (par.

4:45).

OBSERVATION: The treatment of executory contracts is to some extent an
open issue in IASB GAAP. Inventory ordered under a non-cancelabl-e c_:ontract is
not “a resource controlled by” the entity that placed the order unnl, title Fo_ 'Fhe
inventory has passed to it, and thus does not satisfy th_e Fr‘amewo_rkfs definition
of an asset of that entity. In such a case, it would be_ lllpglcal o |n5|st‘ thatl the
price to be paid for the inventory be recognized as a liability p_f that entity, since
there would be no counterpart item to be recognized (recognition of an expense
would make no sense).

There may, however, be other types of executory contracts (e.g., involving
financial instruments) in respect of which recognition of an asset (or expense)
and a related liability (or income) may be the most appropriate treaiment.

Recognition of Income

Recognition of income occurs simultaneously with‘ the recognition of increas%s u}
assets or decreases in liabilities (or a combination of the two). The nmm?
recognition procedures used in practice are ff\pplications of the Frax;:ewﬁrl;z
recognition criteria. An example is the requirement that revenue shou :
earned (that is, it should be associated with a simultaneous increase in assets or
decrease in liabilities). These procedures are concerned with r?stnctmg _the
recognition of income to items that, in effect, mget the Frameworkls recog;ut;on
criteria of probability (a sufficient degree of certainty that an economic benefit has
flowed or will flow to the entity) and reliability of measurement (pars. 4.47-4.48).
(See Chapter 32, “Revenue.”)
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An entity should disclose each of the following for contracts in progress g
the balance sheet date:

1. The aggregate amount of costs incurred and recognized profits (leg
recognized losses) to date,

2. The amount of advances received, and
3. The amount of retentions.
An entity should present:
1. The gross amount due from customers for contract work as an asset, ang
2. The gross amount due to customers for contract work as a liability.

IAS 37, “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities, and Contingent Assets” (s
Chapter 29), should also be applied if appropriate.

IAS 11 gives, as an appendix, a long example and illustration that is worthy
of study.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

In June 2014, after a long and difficult gestation process, the IASB finally issued a
new standard, IFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers.” The standard
will replace both IAS 11, “Construction Contracts,” and IAS 18, “Revenues.” The
general proposal is that no revenue should be recognized from a good or service
until control of that good or service has passed to the buyer. In the context
construction contracts this could imply a delay in revenue recognition in soiw
cases, as compared with IAS 11.

IFRS 15 was declared as mandatory for financial periods beginuiag on or
after January 1, 2017, with earlier application permitted. Following considerable
anxiety and pressure, this has now been formerly delayed until Januaary 1, 2018,
Between now and the final adoption, some entities will be using IAS 11 for
construction activities, while others will not. As the difierences in reported
numbers could be significant, care will be needed. Nofe ti:ara new standard very
similar to IFRS 15 is being introduced into U.S. GAAP (Topic 606), originally
compulsory with effect from December 16, 2016, with early application NOT
permitted, but again now with a 12-month delay. International consistency over
the next couple of years will not be achieved. (IFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts
with Customers,” is discussed in detail in Chapter 32.)
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OVERVIEW

Sarnings per share (EPS) is an important summary indicator of corporate per-
formance for investors and other users of financial statements, relating the to?al
earnings of the enterprise to the number of shares isgued. It ig an essentlald
component in the Price/earnings (PE) ratio, which provides a basis of compari-
son between listed enterprises, and an indicator of market confidence, calculated
as market price per share divided by EPS. High expectations of future perform—
ance lead to, and are indicated by, a higher share price and therefore a higher PE
ratio.

Earnings per share figures are required by IASB GAAP to be presented in
published financial statements in two forms. The basic EPS reports the EPS
essentially as achieved in current circumstances. The diluted EPS calculates the
EPS as if the dilutive effect of “potential” ordinary or common shares currently
foreseeable had already taken place, that is, it assumes that a likely future
increase in the number of shares has already happened. Intuitively, diluted EPS
will be lower than basic EPS, but this need not be the case universally as the
numerator may be increased as well as the denominator.

IAS 33, “Earnings per Share,” became operative from January 1, 1998, There
was considerable cooperation in this area between the TASC, the U.S. FASB, and
the UK. ASB. TAS 33, FAS-128 (i.e., ASC 260) in the United States, and FRS-14 in
the United Kingdom were developed in cooperation and were consistent in all
significant respects with each other.

A tevised version of IAS 33 was issued in March 2004, applicable for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2005, with earlier application en-
couraged. The changes in this revision were of some importance but are of a
technical rather than fundamental nature.
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BACKGROUND

EPS is widely regarded as an important and convenient indicator of enterprig,
performance. In many ways, this is an unsatisfactory state of affairs. Accountay,
and regulators nationally and internationally have made enormous efforts Iy
prescribe and increase transparency and clarity of reporting, but EPS goes oyt of
its way to seek to reduce a voluminous and complex set of information to;
single statistic. While in one sense wishing to downgrade the importance g
tached to EPS, regulators have inevitably found it necessary to make the Epg
figure as reliable and consistent as possible. The earnings figure is relatively ea)
to regulate in terms of “which figure off the income statement to use,” apg
impossible to regulate in terms of the inherent subjectivity involved in som,
aspects of revenue and expense calculation. Most of the detail of IAS 33, “Eap,
ings per Share,” is concerned with the calculation of the denominator in the Epg
ratio, that is, with the actual or imputed number of shares.

SCOPE AND DEFINITIONS

IAS 33 must be applied by entities whose ordinary shares or potential ordinary
shares are publicly traded and by entities that are in the process of issuin

ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares in public markets. Any other entity
that discloses earnings per share should calculate and disclose earnings per share
in accordance with the standard.

When an entity presents both consolidated financial statements and sepafe
financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS 10, “Consolidate Finan-
cial Statements,” and IAS 27, “Separate Financial Statements,” the-disclosures
required by IAS 33 need be presented only on the basis of itie consolidated
information. An entity that chooses to disclose earnings per share based on ifs
separate financial statements must present such EPS informaiion only on the face
of its separate statement of comprehensive income. An <ttty shall not presenl
such EPS information in the consolidated financial staten:ents. This last prohibi
tion, a new introduction compared with the previous version, is to avoid confu
sion for the readers of the consolidated financial statements. In a similar vein, if
an entity presents the components of profit or loss in a separate income state
ment, following paragraph 10A of IAS 1, “Presentation of Financial Statements,”
as revised in 2011 (see Chapter 4), it presents its EPS information only in thal
separate statement. The standard notes that the TAS 32 definitions of financial
instrument, financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument should be
assumed to apply (see Chapter 17), as should the IFRS 13 definition of fair value
(see Chapter 3). Other definitions are given in IAS 33 as follows (par. 5):

® Dilution is a reduction in earnings per share or an increase in loss pel
share resulting from the assumption that convertible instruments ate
converted, that options or warrants are exercised, or that ordinary shares
are issued upon the satisfaction of specified conditions.

® Options, warrants, and their equivalents are financial instruments that give
the holder the right to purchase ordinary shares.

\
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e An ordinary share is an equity instrument that is subordinate to all other
classes of equity instruments.

o A potential ordinary share is a financial instrument or other contract that
may entitle its holder to ordinary shares.

o Put options on ordinary shares are contracts that give the holder the right
to sell ordinary shares at a specified price for a given period.

o Antidilution is an increase in earnings per share or a reduction in loss per
share resulting from the assumption that convertible instruments are
converted, that options or warrants are exercised, or that ordinary shares
are issued upon the satisfaction of specified conditions.

o A contingent share agreement is an agreement to issue shares that is depen-
dent on the satisfaction of specified conditions.

o Contingenily issuable ordinary shares are ordinary shares issuable for little or
no_cash or other consideration upon the satisfaction of specified condi-
tong in a contingent share agreement.

nhe definition of an ordinary share as “subordinate to all other classes”
saplies that there is only one class of ordinary shares and, conversely, that all
ordinary shares are of the same class. However, this is not in general the case.
The standard states explicitly (par. 6) as follows.

Ordinary shares participate in profit for the period only after other types of
shares, such as preference shares, have participated. An entity may have more
than one class of ordinary shares. Ordinary shares of the same class have the
same rights to receive dividends.

Further ambiguity arises from a comparison of the above statement, which
distinguishes ordinary shares in terms of their rights to participate in net profit,
with the definition of an equity instrument in IAS 32, which is couched purely in
terms of rights to participate in a residual interest in net assets. The one need not
automatically embrace the other.

It is possible to envisage complex equity structures creating apparently
anomalous situations. For example, two types of shares could exist, A and B,
both participating in residual net profits and having an interest in residual net
assets, but with A also having an additional fixed preferential dividend entitle-
ment. Clearly A, as a participating preference share, has some preference over B,
s0 therefore B is subordinate to A. The definition of an ordinary share in IAS 33
would then clearly indicate that only B is an ordinary share, despite the fact that
A also participates in residual net profit. On the other hand, two types of share
could exist where the dividend entitlement of one, while neither fixed nor
preferential, is stated as having a fixed proportional relationship to that of the
other. Both types meet the definition (provided they also participate, whether
equally or otherwise, in the residual net assets on dissolution also), so both are
ordinary shares, but they are clearly distinguishable and would be expected to
have different market values.
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BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share should be calculated by dividing the net profit or ]
for the period attributable to ordinary shareholders, the numerator, by
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period,
denominator. Note that the numerator is the net result after deducting preferg
dividends (and in principle after deducting the returns to any other share gy,
other than the ordinary shares). An entity should calculate basic EPS amounts foy
profit or loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent entity ang

presented, profit or loss from continuing operations attributable to those equiy
holders. '

The amount of preference dividends that is deducted from the net profit fy;
the period is the amount of any preference dividends on noncumulative prefe;
ence shares declared in respect of the period, and the full amount of the require
preference dividends for cumulative preference shares for the period, whethey
not the dividends have been declared. It follows that any dividends paid g
declared during the current year in relation to cumulative preference shares jy
respect of previous period have been dealt with in earlier years, and should ol
be deducted in the current period EPS calculation.

OBSERVATION: This simple definition of earnings for EPS purposes masks

two issues that had caused some controversy in earlier years: tax considerations ;\

and unusual items. Under a number of jurisdictions the distribution policy affem:
the total taxation payable by a company on its income. Because “earnings” crz
supposed to be gross of dividends to ordinary shareholders and anv ‘stiscts
thereof, it has been suggested that in such circumstances tax effects <hould be
adjusted to give theoretical comparability between enterprises with different
dividend policies. 1AS 33 ignores this issue, simply requiring Qainings to be
calculated after all tax effects of the actual activities have bsen taken into
account.

Unusual items are likewise not discussed in IAS 52, Tiiere had been much
discussion in earlier years to the effect that EPS, as an indicator of likely
repeatable performance, should exclude the effects of extraordinary items. How-
ever, the subjectivity of definition caused considerable difficulty and distortion (if
not creativity) where this was tried. 1AS 33 sweeps this issue, too, into oblivion by

automatically requiring earnings to be calculated afier the effects of all such
items.

The denominator in the basic EPS calculation is potentially more difficultfo
calculate. It should be the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstand:
ing during the period. This is the number of ordinary shares outstanding at the
beginning of the period, adjusted by the number of ordinary shares bought back
or issued during the period multiplied by a time-weighting factor. The time
weighting factor is the number of days that the specific shares are outstanding &
a proportion of the total number of days in the period; a reasonable approxima
tion of the weighted average is adequate in many circumstances. In most cases,
shares are included in the weighted average number of shares from the dafe
consideration is receivable (which is generally the date of their issue).

;—hninﬁ
T s T T T T T T T e —
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gome simple illustrations may be useful. Consider first the situgtion where
enterprise issues shares partway through the year at full market price.
F I Pullmar had total issued share capital on December 31, 20X1, as
 follows:
500,000 7% $1 preference shares
4,000,000 25¢ ordinary shares
Profit after tax for the year ended December 31, 20X1, was $435,000. On
October 1, 20X1, Fullmar had issued 1 million 25¢ ordinary shares at
full market price
The EPS for the year ended December 31, 20X1, would be calculated as
follows.
The number of ordinary shares in issue on January 1, 20X1, was 3

millicaand 1 million were issued on October 1, 20X1. Thus, the time
weig'ited average number of ordinary shares in issue for the year was

3,300,000 % (9/12) + 4,000,000 x (3/12) = 3,250,000

The earnings for the year attributable to the ordinary shareholders is
$435,000 — 35,000 preference dividend = $400,000. Therefore,

EPS = (40,000,000/3,250,000)¢ per share = 12.3¢ per share.

A second situation is when the number of shares is increased by a cap1tahga-
tion or bonus issue, that is, the shares are issued for zero consideration, leading
of course to no change in the resources available to the enterprise.

The standard (par. 26) logically requires that the weighted average number
of ordinary shares outstanding during the period and .for all perlod.s presgnted
should be adjusted for events, other than the conversion of potel}hal qrdmary
shares, that have changed the number of ordinary shares outstanding without a
corresponding change in resources.

II. Using the same data as above, except that Fullmar issued the shares on
October 1, 20X1, as bonus shares, EPS for 20X1 would be as follows.

We now have a capitalization issue, not a full market price issue, of
shares and therefore we assume 4 million shares in issue for the whole
of the year. (Note: This assumption would be the same no matter at
what point during the year the capitalization was made.)

The number of shares in issue can also be calculated using the
following:

3,000,000 x (9/12) (4/3) + 4,000,000 x (3/ 12)
(bonus factor) -

= 3,000,000 + 1,000,000 = 4,000,000

EPS = (40,000,000/4,000,000) = 10¢ per share

The above calculation gives the EPS figure for the year 20)(1: However,
comparability (and paragraph 26 as quoted) requires thg adjustment of
all prior period EPS figures presented in the 20X1 financial statements.
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If the EPS for the year ended December 31, 20X0, for Fullmar Was g

how would this figure have to be adjusted for the bonus issue forg
20XT financial statements?

The bonus issue represents a 1 for 3 share issue, that is, the Numbg,
shares has increased by one-third; therefore, we must have four-thy,
times the original number of shares and the EPS will be multiplieq g
three-quarters, that is: g
8¢ x (3/4) = 6¢

The third situation is where shares are issued partway through the yeay fiy
consideration but at less than the full market price, as is likely to be the case Wt&
a “rights issue.” In a rights issue, the exercise price is often less than the fair
value of the shares. Therefore, such a rights issue includes a bonus element. The
number of ordinary shares to be used in calculating basic earnings per share for
all periods prior to the rights issue is the number of ordinary shares outstandi'ng
prior to the issue, multiplied by the following factor:

Theoretical ex-rights fair value per Shale/ Fair value per share immediately prior to the exercise of rights

The theoretical ex-rights fair value per share is calculated by adding iy
aggregate fair value of the shares immediately prior to the exercise of the righty
to the proceeds from the exercise of the rights and dividing by the numbey of
shares outstanding after the exercise of the rights. Where the rights themselye
are to be publicly traded separately from the shares prior to the exercise date, ‘i)
value for the purposes of this calculation is established at the close of the las

*oay
on which the shares are traded together with the rights.

Thus, a rights issue combines the characteristics of a capitalizatio:n ‘ssue and
a full market price issue. New resoutces are passing into the businesc, so a higher
earnings figure, related to these new resources, should be expected. At the same
time, however, there is a bonus element in the new shares, which should be
treated like a capitalization issue. To the extent that the rights 1zsue provides new
resources, that is, equates to an issue at full market price, we need to calculate the
average number of shares weighted on a time basis. To the extent that the rights
issue includes a discount or bonus element, we need to increase the number of
shares deemed to have been in issue for the whole period.

I Tlustration of effect of a rights issue:

On June 30, 20X1, Trig has 6,000,000 $1 ordinary shares in issue witha
current market value of $2 per share. On July 1, 20X1, Trig makesa
four for six rights issue at $1.75, and all rights are taken up. Earnings
for the year after tax and preference dividends are $81,579 and the
previous year’s EPS was declared as 9¢. Calculate the EPS figure that

should be shown in the financial statements for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 20X1.

We first need to calculate the theoretical ex-rights price of the shares:

Market value of equity before rights = 600,000 x $2 = $1,200,000
Proceeds from rights issue = 400,000 x $1.75 = 700,000
1,000,000 $1,900,000
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b _rights price = (1,900,000/1,000,000) = $1.90 .
Theoi?{ﬁl; alvzxclalgculatg the weighted average number of shares:
Secor ’
00,000 % (1/2) % (2/1.9) + 1,000,000 x (1/2) = 815,789
?ﬁ me weighting) (time weighting)
Therefore EPS for year ending December 31, 20X1 = (8,157,900/815,789) = 10¢
er ;
Pel‘ share

.d, we need to recalculate the previous year’s EPS irT order dto make the
Tmrllplarative figure comparable with the current figure as reported.
cot

g % (1.9/2) = 8.55¢ per share

1 has occurred in the previous year’s EPS as we have retrospectively inserted

tio . .
o lement of the rights issue.

e bonus e . ‘
2 e are some exceptions to the general rule that share_s are t.o be included
ﬂ-lﬂv:::ighted average number from the date consideration is receivable.
in the

Ordinary chaves issued as part of thg Pgrchase c'onsiderati‘on of a bqsi;t;s;
inatior, that is treated as an acquisition are‘l%l_cluded in the weig fed
o mber of shares as of the date of the acquisition, because the acquirer
?veraf ?r;l:es‘the results of the operations of the acquiree into its income state-
ES:‘F:’om the date of acquisition.

Where ordinary shares are issued in Partly paid fqrm, these -partlg paloc:}
are treated as a fraction of an ordmarY shar‘e (i.e., the proportion

s ts received to date over the full subscription price) to the extent that they

waerglzgtiﬂed to participate in dividends relative to a fully paid ordinary share

during the financial period.

Ordinary shares that are issuable upon the satisfact.ion of ce}ﬂtajln é:og@i1omn:
(contingently issuable shares) are considered outstanding anfll mCE rel C; o
computation of basic earnings per shqre f-rox.n the da.te g en‘ a t?n enﬂy
conditions have been satisfied. OQutstanding ordinary shares a{ alle con fgbaSi};
returnable (that is, subject to recall) are exclb_tded from the calculation o
EPS until the date the shares are no longer subject to recall.

Any different types of unusual share transaction should be‘ treated in accor-
dance with the substance of the situation and consistenﬂy. with the‘ prm.c1ples
outlined in the above text and illustrations. Further illustrations are given in IAS
33, Appendix A.

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

Where there are securities existing at the year-end. ﬂ_mt will have a c_la1fmﬁon
equity earnings from some time in the future, then it is clear. tha_t at this Li %:e
time the claim of each currently existing share w1'11, other things equalé1 e
reduced (or diluted). It is likely to be useful information to c'urr\c_'_nt s:?ar‘ehot 1iers
and others to give them a picture of what the EPS w?uld be lf.thls di }iho‘n ah ecs{
place. This is done by recalculating the current year’s EPS as if the dilution ha
already occurred.

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the net profit
attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of shares
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outstanding both should be adjusted for the effects of all dilutive Ppotentjy
ordinary shares. This means that:

1. The net profit for the period attributable to ordinary shares is increagey
by the after-tax amount of dividends and interest recognized in th,
period in respect of the dilutive potential ordinary shares and adjusteg
for any other changes in income or expense that would result from the
conversion of the dilutive potential ordinary shares, and

2. The weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding is iy
creased by the weighted average number of additional ordinary shareg
that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of all dily.
tive potential ordinary shares.

Although this situation is by its nature more complicated than the calcyls.
tion of basic earnings per share, the adjustments for the numerator, the earnings
figure, are relatively straightforward, provided all aspects of the changes ap
considered. For example, if a convertible debenture exists, then the diluted Epg
calculation requires the assumption that the conversion has already taken place,
This assumption leads not only to an increase in the number of (assumed) share,

it also leads to the necessity to remove the interest charge on the debentures from
the net profit calculation (after tax).

Formally, the net profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders i
adjusted for the after-tax effect of the following (par. 33):

1. Any dividends on dilutive potential ordinary shares that have beay,

deducted in arriving at the net profit attributable to ordinary sharsho!d-
ers as calculated for the basic EPS,

2. Interest recognized in the period for the dilutive potentiai ordinary
shares, and

3. Any other changes in income or expense that wouid tesult from the
conversion of the dilutive potential ordinary shases. such as bonus or
profit-sharing schemes based on reported earnings.

Regarding the denominator in the diluted EPS calculation, that is, the
number of shares, the number of ordinary shares should be the weighted average
number of ordinary shares calculated as for the basic EPS, plus the weighted
average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of all
the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares. Dilutive potential
ordinary shares should be deemed to have been converted into ordinary shares at
the beginning of the period or, if later, the date of the issue of the potential
ordinary shares. The calculation should be based on the terms of issue of the
potential ordinary shares and should assume the most advantageous conversion
rate or exercise price from the viewpoint of the holder.
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llustration of Calculation of Basic and Diluted EPS

The summarized income statement for the year ended 20X1 is as follows:

$000 $000
i 1,000
profit before taxation |
Taxation 400
600
Preference dividend 50
Ordinary dividend 100
150
450

The number of ordinary shares in issue is 2 million.
Calcu'ate the basic EPS.
Biasic =PS

(Profit after tax less preference dividend/Number of
ordinary shares)

(60,000,000 — 5,000,000)/2,000,000
27.5¢ per share

1

Assume now that, in addition to the 2 million ordinary share_s a!reacly in iSSL:e,
however, there exists convertible loan stock of $500,000 bearing interest at 10%.
This may be converted into ordinary shares between 20_)(3 and 20X6 at a rgte of
one ordinary share for every $2 of loan stock. Taxation is taken for convenience
as 50%.

The fully diluted EPS is found as follows. If the conversion is fully completed,
then there will be two effects:

1. The share capital will increase by 250,000 shares (1 share for every $2
of the $500,000 loans).

2. The profit after tax will increase by the interest on'the loan no lgnger
payable less the extra tax on this increase_. The‘lr_nerest at 10% on
$500,000 is $50,000, but the exira tax on this profit increase would be
50% of $50,000, that is, $25,000.

So profit after tax, and therefore “earnings,” will increase by 50,000 — 25,000 =
$25,000. Fully diluted EPS will therefore be:

(600,000 + 25,000 — 50,000)/ (2,000,000 + 250,000)
= (57,500,000/2,250,000)¢
= 25.6¢ per share

IAS 33 discusses a number of possible complications in some detail, in
paragraphs 41-63.

As in the computation of basic earnings per share, ordinary shgres whose
issue is contingent upon the occurrence of certain events are cons1dered. out-
standing and included in the computation of diluted earnings per share if the
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conditions have been met. Contingently issuable shares should be included as
the beginning of the period (or as of the date of the contingent share agreemey
if later). If the conditions have not been met, the number of contingently issygy
shares included in the diluted earnings per share computation is based on
number of shares that would be issuable if the end of the reporting period Wag
the end of the contingency period (which, of course, could be zero).

If a group company other than the parent issues instruments that
potentially convertible into ordinary shares of the parent, then they should p,
included in the calculation of consolidated diluted EPS,

Options and other share purchase arrangements are dilutive when the
would result in the issue of ordinary shares for less than fair value. The amouyy,
of the dilution is fair value less the issue price. Fair value for this purpose i
calculated on the basis of the average price of the ordinary shares during the
period. For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, an enterprig
should assume the exercise of dilutive options and other dilutive potentig]
ordinary shares of the enterprise. The assumed proceeds from these issueg
should be considered to have been received from the issue of shares at fair valye,
The difference between the number of shares issued and the number of shaeg
that would have been issued at fair value should be treated as an issue of
ordinary shares for no consideration. Such ordinary shares generate no proceeds
and have no effect on the net profit attributable to ordinary shares outstandine
Therefore, such shares are dilutive, and they are added to the number of ordinas
shares outstanding in the computation of diluted earnings per share. '

The illustration of the calculation of diluted EPS given above showed the
common situation where, compared with the calculation of basic EXC, both the
numerator and the denominator are increased. The effect in that case was a lower
EPS figure, and indeed that is what the word diluted indicates. It is clearly
possible, however, depending on the relative effect of the aciustments to numer-
ator and denominator, for the effects to be antidilutive. Poi~ntial ordinary shares
are antidilutive when their conversion to ordinary shares would
ings per share from continuing ordinary operations or decrease loss per share
from continuing ordinary operations. The effects of antidilutive potential ordi-
nary shares are ignored in calculating diluted earnings per share.

increase earn-

In considering whether potential ordinary shares are dilutive or antidilutive,
each issue or series of potential ordinary shares is considered separately rather
than in aggregate. The sequence in which potential ordinary shares are consid-
ered may affect whether or not they are dilutive. Therefore, in order to maximize
the dilution of basic earnings per share, each issue or series of potential ordinary
shares is considered in sequence from the most dilutive to the least dilutive.

It is important to note that, while EPS is based on net profit or loss, the
determination of whether potential ordinary shares are dilutive or antidilutive is
based on net profit from continuing operations.

The inclusion of potential ordinary shares in the denominator of a diluted
EPS calculation when the enterprise has a loss from continuing ordinary activi-
ties as defined above would automatically have an antidilutive effect (as it would

bl
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A ares would therefore be ignored for calcglati_ng
deﬂllggs E\?Zr?ﬁ?ltel')t‘esii1;?oﬁt (as opposed to met profit from continuing
S;I;ifary activities) is positive. | N
ial ordinary shares are weighted for the period they were outs " nding.
Po'temle:j‘ ry shares that were canceled or allowed to lapse during the
nt-lal . m?l zre included in the computation of diluted earnings per sha.re
. pen(;)rtion of the period during which they were outstanclling. Potential
ﬂqlﬁa};es that have been converted into F)rdinary s}llares during thfe rep(:ﬁt(;
are included in the calculation of chl.uted earnings per sl}are ro;r;ion
of the period to the date of conversion; frgm the (flate 0 C(?n-ve e£
ordinary shares are included in both basic and diluted earnings p

decreas

Pote
1epo
only for
ordinary 8
ing period
peginning
the resulting
re. . . ‘
1 When an entity has issued a contract that may be settled tin ordi"L:éEf ‘3};;152
h at the eritity’s option, the entity must presume that.t e con i1t be
B e rdinary shares, and the resulting potential ordinary shares are in
e c*(l)‘ll te::i EPS if th’e effect is dilutive. For contracts that may be settled in
cluC'16d < hares or cash at the holder’s option, the more dilutive of cash settle-
Ordlr':i?flsshare settlement should be used in calculating diluted EPS.

“ontracts such as purchased put options and purchased CE}H optiong (ifﬁ.,
, tj(;;IS held by the entity on its own ordinary shares) are not .m.cluf:led 11:; the
gafl)latlation of diluted EPS, because including them would b‘e ant1.d11ut1:1: hi glfl éi
3 3 - o W
tion would be exercised only if the exercise price 2h
:J;;iﬁli Exlnlzgliec‘z%rice and the call option would be exercised only if the exercise
price were lower than the market price.

Contracts that require the entity to repurchase its cf>lwn shlari}sl,e SCL;(I:?UIE:
i i 'd purchase contracts, are reflected in -
written put options and forwar L purch i ——
i i i dilutive. If these contracts are
tion of diluted EPS if the effect is ract Ve
i i i - settlement price is above the g
ing the period (i.e., the exercise or sgtt tent
(rjr:alrliiegt pric}aJ for that period), the potential dilutive effect on EPS should be
calculated as follows: . . N
1. It should be assumed that at the beginning of the peFlodds%ff1c1E?;c
ordinary shares will be issued (at the average market price during
period) to raise proceeds to satisfy the contract. ‘
2. Tt should be assumed that the proceeds from the issue are used to satisfy
the contract (i.e., to buy back ordinary shares).
3. The incremental ordinary shares (the difference Eet’wefen télle num:kilwg:
. i i the number of ordinary
ordinary shares assumed issued and ! ' d
receivecjlr from satisfying the contract) should be included in the calcula
tion of diluted EPS.

RETROSPECTIVE ADJUSTMENTS

As discussed above in relation to IAS 33,. paragraph 26,‘ alnd ;s sho;vhr; r;rSL
Nustration I above, if the number of ord.ma1"y or potential or malg; v
outstanding increases as a result of a capitahzau_on or bonusllsgue 01f sbaSiC ;fnd
or decreases as a result of a reverse share split, the calculation o

men

.
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 diluted earnings per share for all periods presented should be adjusted retrogpg,
tively (par. 64). If these changes occur after the balance sheet date but befoy,
issue of the financial statements, the per share calculations for those and any
prior period financial statements presented should be based on the new NUmbg
of shares. When per share calculations reflect such changes in the numbey of
shares, that fact should be disclosed. In addition, basic and diluted earnings Per

share of all periods presented should be adjusted for the effects of e
adjustments resulting from chan
retrospectively.

ITOTS gpg
ges in accounting policies accounted for

Restatement of prior period diluted EPS to reflect a change in assumptigp
used is not allowed.

PRESENTATION AND DISCLOSURE

An entity must present in the statement of comprehensive income basic apg
diluted EPS for profit or loss from continuing operations attributable to the
ordinary equity holders of the parent entity and for profit or loss attributable to
the ordinary equity holders of the parent entity, for the period, for each clasg of
ordinary shares that has a different right to share in profit for the period. Basjc
and diluted EPS must be given equal prominence for all periods presented. Thegp
requirements apply even if basic and diluted EPS are identical (in which case
one-line presentation is acceptable), and even if the amounts are negative. Ap
entity that reports a discontinued operation must disclose the basic and diluteg
amounts per share for the discontinued operation either in the statement of
comprehensive income or in the notes to the financial statements. If an =nf

presents the components of profit or loss in a separate income statement, ag
described in paragraph 10A of IAS 1, “Presentation of Financial Statainents,” ag

revised in 2011 (see Chapter 4), it presents the basic and diluted EPS figures in
that separate statement or the notes.

An entity shall disclose the following:

1. The amounts used as the numerators in calculating basic and diluted
EPS, and a reconciliation of those amounts to profit or loss attributable
to the parent entity for the period. The reconciliation must include the

individual effect of each class of instruments that affects earnings per
share.

- The weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denomina-
tor in calculating basic and diluted EPS and a reconciliation of these
denominators to each other. The reconciliation should include the indi-
vidual effect of each class of instruments that affects earnings per share.

3. Instruments (including contingently issuable shares) that could poten-
tially dilute basic EPS in the future but were not included in the

caleulation of diluted EPS because they are antidilutive for the periods
presented.

4. A description of ordinary share transactions or potential ordinary share
transactions, other than those accounted for in accordance with para-

graph 64, that occur after the balance sheet date and that would have
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ignifi i hares or potential ordi-
d significantly the number of ordinary share .
rﬂi;g;haresgr:mtstanding at the end of the perllod if those transactions
had occurred before the end of the reporting period.

Examples of transactions in item 4 include:

s An issue of shares for cash;

An issue of shares when the proceeds are used to repay debt or preference
4 -
shares outstanding at the balance sheet date;

e The redemption of ordinary shares outstanding;

e The conversion or exercise of potential ordinary shares outstanding at the
palance sheet date into ordinary shares;

Wi - . d
o An issue of options, warrants, or convertible instruments; an

o The achievement of conditions that would result in the issue of contin-

gentiy issuable shares.

A2 35 does not prevent the disclosure of additional cal;ulbatioir;s. of pei(;;ré;
o) rati ified in the standard, but it is con

a-par-share ratios beyond those speci 4 i £ stand concerned
wapmih I;preventing either obfuscation of the ofle;a 1a?fs Cﬁzc(igsef;ls;gr;d C{iﬁon

‘ i i tements. Accordingly, if an entity ?
weader of the financial sta i s AP T
. i i PS, amounts per share using a rep
B e et ather £ ired by the standard, such amounts shall be
i tatement other than one required by lard, . =
mior?aetzd using the weighted-average number of ordinary shares d-Ete-rI]nltl}id 10
» Cuclance with the standard. Basic and diluted amounts per sh§1e rela ltle g o
e i i 'ominence and presen

disclosed with equal promin ;
such a component are to be ‘ B s ca
i i . An entity should in
es to the financial statements . s on
t\i:flig? Jic:he numerators are determined, including whether amiagn’ilssggr tf};ig ;1; t
f the income statement 13
tax or after tax. If a component o ent i z

beﬂz)];ied as a line item in the income statement, a rec9nmhat10n }m:ls: }?ﬁcg;ln -
ffiged between the component used and a line item that is reported in the i

statement.

OBSERVATION: There has been much debate in recent yearsp(:;((!j i"vtﬂﬁ
& implicati i hensive income’ as com
reement!) about the implications of qompre : o
?I?e ’earning)s’ figure as discussed in this chapter, tanlg \;\;}hlc;r:ea?r?e;;fse?:nihi gys
"profi loss’ account. Bo
result at the end of the ’profit or : N
implicati f the entity through the year. ' ’
implications of the performance o o] e G e
i hether or not the "total comp
judgement and no comment on wi s byl
[ isa’ " indicati ce. We merely make the p ;
figure is a 'good’ indication of performan e o
itis i ful, at least for some purp ,
ent that it is indeed regarded as useful, ' .
ﬁa)gically follows that ’total comprehensive income ;f)etl)ro tshh?I:; ;?jugaﬂisr?gs; =
i isti rting o
ful comparative statistic. Conversely, repo is .
:ﬁzr: migh?be regarded as causing confusion to the unsophisticated reader

We are not aware of any movements towards, or serious discussion about,
reporting information in this direction.
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. 3 23,001
recognized at that date but applies |
?_nd any resul.tant changes in the useful lives are
I an accounting estimate in accordance with

A number of amendments were made to IAS 38 in 20

the revisions of IAS 1 an.
d IFRS 3, i
after January 1, 2009, for those ma e y

for those made in conjunction wi

IAS 38 to reassess their

accounted for ]
IAS 8 (IAS 38, pyy.

CHAPTER 23
'TERIM FINANCIAL REPORTING

0§ in Conjup
api ‘ . er10ds beg;
€ In conjunction with IAS 38 and

TAS 38 in April 2009 clarifyi th TFRS 3. A minor amendment July . CONTENTS
intangibles as part of a b ying the requirements regarding the _was‘ 23,001
techniques commaonly use;stlgﬁs combmation and the descripﬁm:l i)c}; d 23,001
assets are not traded in an ElCtiveeasme intangible assets at fair valye pefinitions 23,002
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OVERVIEW

financial statements are something of a blunt instrument. They cover a

period and do not appear until a considerable time after the end of that
od. It is helpful to many users of financial statements to receive one or more
gs reports at interim times and/or at shorter intervals. This is a require-
¢ most stock exchanges, which are likely to issue their own regulations on
statements for their own listed companties. It is also good public relations to
sar to wish to keep an image of openness and transparency with one’s
rs, lenders, and customers.

The practice of issuing interim financial information has become more
alent generally among listed entities in recent years. Clearly, as with the
4l financial statements themselves, consistency, clarity of policy, and adher-
‘nce to fair presentation are essential. IASB GAAP do not require the publication
ol interim financial reports. However, if an entity reporting under IASB GAAP
‘does choose (or is required by other authorities) to issue such reports, then IASB
GAAP prescribes the minimum content of an interim financial report, and the
jprinciples for recognition and measurement in complete or condensed financial
statements for an interim period.

I IASB GAAP is contained in IAS 34, “Interim Financial Reporting,” IFRIC 10,
“Inferim Financial Reporting and Impairment,” is also relevant. Further, minor
amendments have been made.

BACKGROUND

There are two possible ways of viewing the preparation of interim financial
statements. The first, known as the discrete approach, views interim periods like
any other accounting period, only shorter. The second, known as the integral
ipproach, views an interim period as a component, or integral, part of the annual
reporting period. Within this second approach, the purpose of interim financial
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reporting is to provide information over the course of the annual Periog thy
helps to anticipate annual results,

To some extent, IASB GAAP follow the second integral philosophy. The 8
not require that seasonal or cyclical revenues or expenses are smoothed out
they can be properly interpreted as indicators of annual performance, gi;':;
proper comparison figures plus further explanation if necessary. IAS 34 seeks
ensure that such meaningful comparison and necessary explanation are pr.
vided. There are no major differences between IASB and U.S. GAAP as Proéitxf-
gated in ASC 270. It should be remembered as a general point, however,
many stock exchanges have their own rules
thereon.

in relation to enterprises quotey

SCOPE AND DEFINITIONS

As already indicated, IASB GAAP do not of themselves require the
and publication of interim financial reports by any entity, listed or otherwig
The fact that an entity may not have provided interim financial reports during,
particular financial year or may have provided interim financial reports that gy
not comply with IAS 34 does not prevent the entity’s annual financial Statemenf
from conforming to international standards if they otherwise do so. However jf
an entity’s interim financial report is described as complying with internationg
standards, it must comply with all of the requirements of IAS 34. Thus, JAS A
applies to all entities that are required, or elect, to publish an interim finrmgy
report in accordance with international standards. The IASB “encourages” pub-
licly traded (listed) entities (par. 1) to provide interim financial reports at least g
of the end of the first half of their financial year and to make their interim

financial reports available not later than 60 days after the end 0t the interin
period.

Preparati

The standard gives two formal definitions, as follows ( war. 4):

1. Interim period is a financial reporting period sherter
year.

than a full financial

2. Interim financial report means a financial report containing either a com-
plete set of financial statements (as described in IAS 1, “Presentation of
Financial Statements” (see Chapter 4)) or a set of condensed financial
statements (as described in this standard) for an interim period.

IAS 34 makes it clear that it does not intend in any way to “discourage” the
issue of an interim complete set of financial statements, that is, in full accord with
IAS 1 (which requirement automatically embraces all other applicable IASs), The

IAS itself, however, specifies the minimum components of an interim financial
report as follows (par. 8):

1. A condensed statement of financial position.

2. A condensed statement or condensed

statements of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

3. A condensed statement of changes in equity.

4. A condensed statement of cash flows.

5. Selected explanatory notes.
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< to be assumed that a reader of an interim financial report also has access

g evious full annual financial statements. The interim rel?ort, the1.efo1e,

o ¢ P:m new circumstances and need not duplicate information previously
ges

wported-
FORM AND CONTENT OF INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eady discussed, an entity may, if it chooses, issue. its inte’rim fma_nc1ai
e yin full accord with IAS 1. Otherwise, if an entity publishes a set o
mtemenﬁ financial statements in its interim financial report, those condensed
wndenset should include, at a minimum, each of the headings and subtotals
. luded in its most recent annual financial statements and the selected
R mcnotes as required by IAS 34. Additional line items or notes should be
exPiana;[toFZ their omission would make the condensed interim financial state-
P 'lleadi“ o: Basic and diluted earnings per share should be preserllted on
Een;:cgllf)f na\:h 'imtome statement, complete or condensed, for each interim
. A

¢ pod- : i le, regard-

The interim report should be as consistent as Ipossf.DIE, for exan:p i?hegcon—
., ~onsolidation, with the most recent annual financial statemel? s.ld Lo
J.zflsed changes in equity statement (see component 3, above) should als
;c;;sistent with that of the annual statements.

This relatively brief comment dealg x:vith.l components 1-4 of ?enc%?q?;lssg
interim report. The element of subjectivity involved m_the ngzs Cio O et
tional line items or notes” should be o?servii. ?oz«ﬁ;ﬁ;{eﬁ? . doe;aan Zt fith the
content of required explanatory notes note that co include

“condensed”) in detail. Again, it is assumed tl?at the: prfie.w u
gar‘x?;flstaiements are)available to the reader, so the n‘otes in the u1tc.e111r.1ﬁ];e:£:1):r§
should focus on an explanation of events ar.td transactions that fafre Slgl:ée B
an understanding of the changes in financial position and performar
enterprise since the last annual reporting date (pars. 15-15C).

In addition to disclosing significant events and traﬂslachc_);lfs 111 a:iccl?*?ralaiiﬁi
with paragraphs 15-15C, an entity shall include-the following 11 01‘mih§ e
notes to its interim financial statements if not disclosed elsew eref%n i
financial report. The information shall normally be reported on a financial y
to-date basis as follows:

1. A statement that the same accounting policies and methods of corgpultg;
tion are followed in the interim financial statements as compal]"f ! Wlor
the most recent annual financial statements or, if those p;) c1e§ o
methods have been changed, a description of the nature and effect o

change. | |
2. Explanatory comments about the seasonality or cyclicality of interim
operations. |
3. The nature and amount of items affecting assets, liabi_lities, eqmtl'y, net
. income, or cash flows that are unusual because of their nature, size, or
incidence.

I @
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Thg nature and amount of changes in estimates of amo
prior interim periods of the current financial
mates of amounts reported in prior years.

unts repopgeq :
year or changeg me;is;‘.

5 i
Issues, repurchases, and repayments of debt and equity securities

- Dividends paid (aggregate or
and other shares.

. ‘The following segment information
1s required in an entity’s interim fin,
ing Segments,” requires that entit
annual financial statements):

per share) separately for ordinary Shargg

(d%‘sclosure of segment informgy
anc_1a1 report only if IFRS 8, “Ope
y to disclose segment information mr :;

a. Revenues from external customers, if included in
segment profit or loss reviewed by the chief op

maker or otherwise regularly provi i
phaker or 0 g y provided to the chie

the. measure gf
erating decisjoy
f operating deg.

Intersegment revenues, if i i

, if included in the measure of
’ i segme ;
or lolss.remewe.zd by the chief operating decision maker gr owtrll1t &
regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker .

- A measure of segment profit or loss.

A measui';a of total assets and liabilities for a
segment if such amounts are re d i
_ £ gularly provided to the chief
: . Operat-
ing decision maker and if there has been a material change frof:t ‘tilte

particular reportable

- A descripti_on of differences from the last annual financia
in the basis of segmentation or in the basis of ﬁ‘el\
segment profit or loss. )

1 statements
surement of

LA r?conciliation of the total of the reportable 5ag
profit or loss to the entity’s i Yo
! profit or loss vetore tax expe
- . . j ns
igcome)‘ and discontinued operations. However, if an entitl;f allc?cgrax
© trif;)?;?ble segnﬁenttﬁ items such as tax expense (tax income) tl?:
y reconcile the total of the se ts’ ’
o e e B - gments” measures of profit or
er those items. Material r iling i
. S 2 . econciling ite
be separately identified and described in that reconcih'atign T

iments’ measures of

- Bvents after the interim period that have not been reflected in the

financial statements for the interim period.

- The effect of changes in the composition of the

entity during the interim

period, including business combinations; obtaining or losing control of

subsidiaries; and long-term investments
ugd operations. In the case of business
disclose the information required by IFRS 3

10.

» Testructurings, and discontin-
combinations, the entity shall
L L

Business Combinations.”

For financial instruments, the di
, the d i, :
paragraphs 91 isclosures about fair value required by

-96, 98 and 99 of IFRS 13, “Fair Value Measurement,” and

paragraphs 25, 26, and 28- “Fi i
e 30 of IFRS 7, “Financial Instruments:

a
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11. For entities becoming, or ceasing fo be, investment entities, as defined in
IERS 10, “Consolidated Financial Statements,” the disclosures in IFRS 12,
sDisclosure of Interests in Other Entities,” paragraph 9B.

saggregation of revenue from contracts with customers required

12. The di
“Revenue from Contracts with Cus-

by paragraphs 114-115 of TFRS 15,
tomers” (once IFRS 15 is adopted).

e
_, PRACTICE POINTER: The requirement to present information on a

financial year-to-date basis and o ensure an understanding of the current interim
period should be noted carefully. It logically has no effect in the context of half-
yearly interim statemenis, but if interim statements are issued quarterly, then its
implications could be significant. The notes included must satisfy the require-
ments of providing an understanding of the latest quarier (and its comparatives)
and also an understanding of the year-to-date (and its comparatives).

A cleas statement of disclosure of IAS compliance is required. This should
epecify eitier that the interim financial statements achieve full compliance with
[AS 1, with all its implications, or specify that the interim financial statements
whieve full compliance with IAS 34. No partial or “in all material respects”
oamms for compliance are permitted.

Interim reports are required to include interim financial statements as fol-

lows (par. 20):
1. Statement of financial position as of the end of the current interim period
and a comparative statement of financial position as of the end of the
immediately preceding financial year.

ofit or loss and other comprehensive income for the

2. Statements of pr
ial year to

current interim period and cumulatively for the current financ
date, with comparative statements of profit or loss and other compre-
hensive income for the comparable interim periods (current and year-to-
date) of the immediately preceding financial year. As permitted by IAS
1, an interim report may present for each period a single statement or
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

3. Statement of changes in equity cumulatively for the current financial
year to date, with a comparative statement for the comparable year-to-
date period of the immediately preceding financial year.

4. Statement of cash flows cumulatively for the current financial year to
date, with a comparative statement for the comparable year-to-date
period of the immediately preceding financial year.

Hlustration

To illustrate, suppose an entity's financial year ends December 31 (calendar
year). The entity will present the following Statement or Statements of Profit or
Loss and Other Comprehensive Income in its quarterly interim financial report as

of June 30, 2007:




.
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Statement of Financial Position
At

Statement of Comprehensive
Income

6 months ending

3 monihs ending
Statement of Cash Flows

6 months ending
Statement of Changes in Equity:

6 months ending

June 30, 2007 December 31, 2005

June 30, 2007

June 30, 2
June 30, 2007 -

June 30, 2008

June 30, 2007 June 30, 2006

June 30, 2007

EPS figures would be requi
equired for each one of th '
res e ; ) e four in
gidere petgg;‘tiigﬂ’fﬁs vég(')tse business s highly seasonal are “eni%rﬂf’:lgségt?mems
4 . in addition to the above, financial i ; O cant
endin h - » inancial information for
g on the interim reporting date and comparative informatioahiolzthrgont.hs
prior

June 30, 2006

——

The question of materiality needs
how to recognize, measure, classify, o
feporting purposes, materiality sh01’11d
perxod_ financial data. An event affect

to _be considered carefully. In decidj

r disclose an item for interim finam-lflg
. be assgssed in relation to the intevc;ia]
Ing an interim period may be ma’r«:n::

or misstating i i

o isetati %c 1Etcguld mﬂ_ueqce the economic decisions of users of e §j i
Statements. I 15 material in the context of the interi o Nen TicHl
requires its disclosure. SRR

N4

. Pall‘;eigraph 16 A(d) (given as item 4 in the

nancial Statements” section above) requires
changes_m estimates used in previous interim’
current interim period. However, IAS 34 does

“Form and Content of Interim
WI:IEI‘E material, disclosure of
periods within the year, in the

dealt with by paragraph 26, which requires th

dealt wit arag at i ;
reported in an interim period is changed signi atly At e S

ficantly during the final interim
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jod of the financial year but a separate financial report is not published for
g | final interim period, the nature and amount of that change in estimate
:zuld be disclosed in a note to the annual financial statements for that financial

-
RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

The key principle is that consistency of accounting policies is required between
o annual statements and the interim statements. However, change in account-
ing policy is allowed under IAS 8 (see Chapter 6) and may be required by the
ssue of a new international standard or statement by the International Financial
geporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC). The implications (par. 28) are that
an entity should apply the same accounting policies in its interim financial
sfatements as are applied in its annual financial statements, except for accounting
olicy changes made after the date of the most recent annual financial statements
that are to be rellected in the next annual financial statements. However, the
frequency Of axt entity’s reporting (annual, half-yearly, or quarterly) should not
affect the sncasurement of its annual results. To achieve that objective, measure-

menfs for interim reporting purposes should be made on a year-to-date basis.

~he standard makes rather heavy weather of the implications of this, but the
sdnciple is quite simple. This is that the definitions of the elements, in particular,
assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses given in the IASB Framework (see
Chapter 2), must be applied absolutely consistently between annual and interim
statements. If an expenditure does not create an asset capable of recognition
under the Framework as of the end of an interim period, then it must be treated
as an expense in those interim results. Similarly, a liability can be recorded as
such only if it represents an existing obligation as of the date of the interim

period-end.

IAS 34 recognizes, as it must, that estimates and expectations, for example,
concerning future benefits, will change as the full reporting year progresses, that
is, they will change between interim reporting periods. An entity that reports
more frequently than semiannually, measures income and expenses on a year-to-
date basis for each interim period, using information available when each set of
financial statements is being prepared. Amounts of income and expenses re-
ported in the current interim period will reflect any changes in estimates of
amounts reported in prior interim periods of the financial year. The amounts
reported in prior interim periods are not retrospectively adjusted. Paragraphs 16
A(d) and 26 require, however, that the nature and amount of any significant
changes in estimates be disclosed. These paragraphs also require, in the case of
an entity that reports only semiannually, similar disclosure in the annual finan-
cial statements of significant changes in estimates used in the interim statements.

OBSERVATION: Some uncertainties of detail arise. For example, suppose
an entity has a policy of remeasuring certain assets 1o fair value on a frequent
and regular basis. Such remeasurements will be reflected in interim reporis. Is
the base carrying amount, for the calculation of gain or loss on disposal, that of
the latest interim report, or that of the last annual repori? Logic would suggest
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the latter, at least as it will be shown in the next full annual report, as ap OPtiong
interim report should not logically affect the pasition in and between Compygg
annual reports. But the formal position is unclear. Additionally in thig situa ibn

and also with provisions, for example, for inventory write-down or doubtfy|
estimates may reverse between i i

IAS 34 explicitly con
sional and costs that are i

section), if appropriate,
IAS 34 notes and effectively accepts that the use

of estimation in interjp,
than might be acce

ptable in full annual finangj

The IASB has issued IFRIC 10,
ment,” to deal with a typically obsc

“Interim Financial Repoiting and Impajr-
losses recognized in interim financial

ure point of detail relating to impairmen
statements. The essentiai points are:
* An entity shall not reverse an impairment loss

interim period with respect to goodwill.

® An entity shall not extend this

consensus by analogy to other areas of
potential conflict between IAS 34 and other standards.

Tecognized in a previoys

It should be noted that the re

is not necessarily forbidden in the general case.

RESTATEMENT OF PREVIOUSLY REPORT
PERIODS

ly (see Chapter 6). 1AS 34, paragraph 43, states thata

Cy, other than one for which the transition is specified

rpretation, should be reflected by:

L. Restating the financial statements of prior interim Pperiods of the current
financial year and the comparable interim periods of prior financial

years that would be restated in the annual financial statements under
IAS 8; or

ED INTERIM

In general, 1AS 8 will app
change in accounting poli
by a new standard or inte

|
N ——
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i f the new
i ine the cumulative effect o : .
it is impractical to determine the lative ef fhe new
g, When tlr’glirbeghmmg of the financial year, ad]t;:.atmgc;{};le :;rl iy
i aof rior interim periods o_f the .current tnag 1 ythe e
statemeﬂl’i mserjm periods of prior financial years to apply
ler'lpa;o:pectively from the earliest date practicable.
policy

" . » d
; nting policy be applie
ek uire that the change in accour . from.
i Effeit Df th'lfsglie:to i];er?ot practicable, that it be applied prospectively
ectively, Or 1

- than the beginning of the financial year.
1o later

D MEASUREMENT
HE RECOGNITION AN
APPLYING T PRINCIPLES

les of
. . . large number of exar{ip

: appendix, which gw.es g P “INustrative” and
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jncome faxes & -age annual effective tax rate expec kin
E [eOr"afe%Szgpal:e’:l;rgeedetaﬂed and should be read in full by those seeking
g vear. 1he

napply IAS 34 in a complex scenario.

j w roduce here
flect the nuances of difficulty at a more genelalslegfe;s‘ € repro
. i 15, 5=7):
i t;;?g f)f the examples given (IAS 34, Appendix B, pa
jus

- onuses varies widely. Some are
g _BOT’WS@Z- Tk;zx?tﬁtssdoizr?;o;rﬁeﬁt during a time periOfi. S?ﬁ:
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OVERVIEW

The accruals (matching) convention requires that fixed (non-current) assets with
afinite useful life should be gradually expensed over that life, in a manner such
that annual expenses are pro rata with annual benefits. This process is known as
tepreciation.

IASB GAAP come from a variety of sources. The key relevant standards are:
* IAS 16, “Property, Plant, and Equipment”

* IFRS 3, “Business Combinations” (regarding goodwill)

* IAS 36, “Impairment of Assets”

® TAS 38, “Intangible Assets”

This chapter deals fully with IAS 16.
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BACKGROUND

Assets have already been defined, as discussed in Chapter 2, as follows (

tual Framework, par. 4.4). COncgp,

An asset is a resource controlled b i
] y the enterprise as a result of past even
and from which future economic benefits are expected to flow. 4 ]

Assets are divided into fixed assets and current assets. The IAS terms gy

non-current gssets and current assets, respectively. The distinct i .
defined in IAS 1 (par. 66). F g e fOlma]]y

An asset should be classified as a current asset when it:

1. Is expe_cted to be realized in, or is intended for sale or consumption j
the entity’s normal operating cycle; and 1

2. Is held primarily for the purpose of being traded;

3. Is expected to be realized within 12 months after the balance sheet

o date;

4. Is casl;} or a cash equivalent (as defined by IAS 7, “Cash Flow State.
mer}t? ), unless it is restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a
liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

All other assets should be classified as non-current assets.

The definition of non-current assets is often misunderstood. A nson-current
asset is not an asset with a long life. The essential criterion is the i::r.entfon of the
owner, the intended use of the asset. A non-current asset is an azeat that the firm
mt.eucls to use within the business, over an extended period, it order to assist s
daily operating activities. A current asset, on the other hand, iy usually defined in
terms of time. A current asset is an asset likely to change its form, that is likely t
undergo some transaction, within 12 months. ) ’ ’ &

- PRACTICE POINTER: Consider two firms, A and B. Firm A is a motor
trader. It possesses some motor vehicles that it is attempting to sell, and it also
possess:es some desks used by the sales staff, management, and sc; on. Firm B
is a furniture dealer. It possesses some desks that it is attempting to sell, and it
also possesses some motor vehicles used by the sales staff and for d,elivery
purposes. In the accounts of A, the motor vehicles are current assets and the
desks are non-current assets. In the accounts of B, the motor vehicles are non-
current assets and the desks are current assets. Note incidentally that a fixed
gsset that, after several years’ use, is about to be sold for scrap, remains in the
fixed asset part of the accounts even though it is about to change’its form.

The crucial difference between IASB GAAP and U.S. GAAP is that IASB
GAAP permit the upward revaluation of depreciable and non-depreciable non-
current afssets, whereas U.S. GAAP do not. U.S. GAAP also allow no distinction
between investment properties and other properties.

) F 3
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PRINCIPLES OF ACCOUNTING FOR DEPRECIATION

the first major problem with depreciation, perhaps surprisingly, is to agree on
what it is, and what it is for. The generally agreed view nowadays is that it is in
ssence a straightforward application of the matching, or accruals, convention.
fith a non-current asset, the benefit from the asset is spread over several years.
The matching convention requires that the corresponding expense be matched
yith the benefit in each accounting period. This does not simply mean that the
potal expense for the asset’s life is spread over the total beneficial life. It means,
nore specifically, that the total expense for the asset’s life is spread over the total
peneficial life in proportion to the pattern of benefit. Thus, to take a simple example,
ifa non-current asset gives half of its benefit, or usefulness, in year 1, one-third in
ear 2, and one-sixth in year 3, and the total expenses arising are $1,200, then the
natching convention requires the charging of $600 in year 1, $400 in year 2, and
§200 in year 3 (1 the annual profit calculation. This charge is known as the
fepreciation cliu:3e.

In ordes'to calculate a figure for this charge, it is necessary to answer four
basic Guesdons:
1. What is the cost of the asset?

2. What is the estimated useful life of the asset to the business? (This may
be equal to, or may be considerably less than, its technical or physical
useful life.)

3. What is the estimated residual selling value (“scrap value”) of the asset
at the end of the useful life as estimated?

4. What is the pattern of benefit or usefulness derived from the asset likely
to be (not the amount of the benefit)?

It is perfectly obvious that the second, third, and fourth of these involve a
good deal of uncertainty and subjectivity. The “appropriate” figures are all
dependent on future plans and future actions. It is important to realize that even
if the first figure, the cost of the fixed asset, is known precisely and objectively,
the basis of the depreciation calculation as a whole is always uncertain, esti-
mated, and subjective. The estimates should, as usual, be reasonable, fair, and
prudent (whatever precisely this implies).

But the first figure is often not at all precise and objective, for several
1eAsons.

_» PRACTICE POINTER: Problems in establishing a “cost” figure for a non-
current asset include the following:

1. Incidental expenses associated with making the asset
workable should be included, for example, installation
costs carried out by the business’s own staff, probably
including some overhead costs.

2. The non-current asset may be constructed within the busi-
ness by its own workforce, giving rise to all the usual
costing problems of overhead definition and overhead
allocation.
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is the easiest to apply, and also the
3. Interest on related borrowing during the construction pro- his is by far the most common method. It is the

! iodi internal purposes is facili-
cess may, or may not, be capitalized (see Chapter 7, “Bor- reparation of periodic (e.g., mqnt_hly) acgognts for in e pthst il it
rowing Costs”). ?ated This method assumes, within the limits of materiality,

ul. or beneficial, each year. Whether this assumption is as frequently

f . i

4. Dependi th ti licies used by the fi equally use ests is an open question.

generally, the “basic” Figure for the fixed psct oy o justiied as the common usage of the method sugg

revalued periodically. Additionally, if land is not depreci- e

ated but the building on the land is, then this requires a

split of the total cost (or value) figure for the land and e ducing-Bﬂl“"CB Method '

b:ilt;iings togsther nto twa possibly somewhat e der this method, depreciation each year is calculated lfay apt};lymg a Oco:stj;t

I e ! e previou .

5 I\)/Iajor alterations/improvements may be made to the asset Urlcentage fo heEEhosk VI PIoUEpt o W : ;

; : reciation to date.) Given
part way through its life. If these appear to increase the ote that this perc.entage ° .basefc‘i Onem:nilost;fifszﬁﬁ life and “scrap” value
benefit from the asset over the remaining useful life, and fhe cost (or valuatl.on) starting ngur c’i 1 to make the net book value at the end
perhaps also to increase the number of years of the remain- the appropriate percentage neede

! ! ; igures, from a formula:

ing useful life, and are material, then the costs of these ﬁfg:he useful life exactly equal to the scrap value can be found

improvements should also be capitalized (i.e., treated as 3

part of the non-current asset from then on). Maintenance o . ife in years, S is the scrap value,
costs, however, are “running” expenses and should be where d is the depreciation percentage, 1 1S the I years,

charged to the income statement as incurred. In practice, d C is the cost (or basic value).
this distinction can be difficult to make. "

Thie formula is rarely used. In practice, whenl this method is usledsztsi‘:f\:jtzi c):lz

| e d” figure is usually taken, shown by experience to be .Vagéle ifau gl
ot o fhe oot ot B e T o Kot 2 depreciable amouri Sy ot the particular type of asset under cons1d‘erat1on. Notlce,dmm en ex¥£91ne 5

consist of the cost of the asset less the scrap value. This depreciable amoyy f;rmula fails to work when the scrap value is zero, and Pf? uces ;n —

et pead over T et [ in proportion to the pattern of bexen, ossibly distorted allocation of expense when the scrap value is very g

Once the depreciable amount has been found, with revision if necessary to teke P

account of material improvements, several recognized methods exist for tpiead-

. : . . ion of Reducing-Balance Method
ing, or allocating, this amount to the various years concerned. The more impor- jspration ] i 2 ing a depreciation percent-
tant possibilities are outlined below. It is essential to understand. the implicit Using the data of the previous illustration and aé?uen; chgof the 4 years using the
assumption that each method makes about the pattern of berngfis arising and age of 40%, calculate the depreciation charge
therefore about the appropriate pattern of expense allocation. reducing balance method.
. . Year 1 Cost $1i’ggg
Methods of Calculating Depreciation Deprediation 40% ____,_6
7,20
; ; NBV d
Straight-Line Method vear2 o o 2,880
Depreciation 40% e
The depreciable amount is allocated on a straight-line basis, that is, an equal Year 3 NBV 4,320
amount is allocated to each year of the useful life. If an asset is revalued or Depreciation 40% _ 1728
materially improved, then the new depreciable amount will be allocated equally NBV 2,592
over the remaining, possibly extended, useful life. Year4 1.037
- 4 :
Depreciation 40% i
$1,655
NBV -
lilustration of Straighi-Line Method

“orofit” on disposal of
i value turns out to be correct, then a “pro _
Using the straight-line method, calculate the annual depreciation charge from the If the estimaied scrap | it LTATAIILEING SIS
! $445 would be recorded also in year . S s
M method. or of an accelerated depreciation method. The charge is hig

first year and gradually reduces over the asset's life.

Cost ("basic” value figure) $12,000

Useful life 4 years
Scrap value $2,000 . ;
e roach to the
Annual charge = ($12,000 — $2,000)/4 Several arguments can be advanced for pll‘?fellmg this appro
= $2,500 straight-line method, at least in theory, as follows:

r T — = ———e
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1. Tt better reflects the typical benefit pattern, at least of some asset.
o
2. Tt could be argued that, where the pattern of benefit is ags

effectively constant, the appropriate “expense,” which needs

spondingl i '
ﬂfe o i fy evenly matched, is not the pure depreciation e

Umeqd to
t0 be g,
lemen,

(a) The pure depreciation element, and
(b) The maintenance and repair costs.

Because (b) will tend to i
incr o
e (b crease as the asset gets older, it is nece

ssary for (g oy

3. It tI)etter teflects the probable fact that the value (ie., the market
;?t eue) cc)lf the acslset falls more sharply in the earlier years. This ar‘;;ﬁaale
1t advanced, is questionable in principle. D iation i o
- : . Depre
Wlth appropriate allocation of expense, agplyingf thzlﬁgngtsmcgogsemm
nven.

ixed assets, g
Wpoint
still valid,

mtermediate time, is not of concern,

A particular variant fo i ice i
und in practice in some countri
! cu tries
?le-le de'chr’ljng balance method. This involves calculatin
“straight line” depreciation percentage, then ;
Ing percentage on the reducing balance basis,

is knGwn as fhe

' the -appropriate
doubling it and applving the rlzasult-

Sum-of-the-Digits Method

The sum-of-the-digi i
gits method is another exam 1 aoT i
It i g ple of a reducing-ch
t.t s blilsed on a convenient “rule of thumb” and produces a a%temar%edmequ.
10N charge somewhat similar to the reducing-balance methodp o

e gffff} the same figures as before, the 4 years weights of 4, 3, 2, and 1
By tlkjle " ezi are given and the total of weights is calculated. In gerlw.er’al ;erms i;
o Sumybe;ligw;fzgh;s lc;f/ ;‘t, 7;;:; e 1,‘r%slpectively, and sum the total weigl{ts

. . . epreciable amount is th :
years in the proportion that each year’s weighting bearésto L(Elré ;iol:gf e v

]
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a3 llustration of Sum-of-the-Digits Method

Using the data in the previous illustrations gives the following figures:
4+ 3 +2+1=10 (the “sum” of the “digiis”)
pepreciable amount = $12,000 — $2,000 = $10,000

pepreciation charges are:

4/10 x 10,000 = $4,000
3/10 % 10,000 = $3,000
2/10 % 10,000 = $2,000
1/10 % 10,000 = 1,000

Year 1
2

3
4

This gives NBV figures in the balance sheet of $8,000, $5,000, $3,000, and
$2,000 for year ends 1-4, respectively.

-

R

Qutput ov Usage Method

T« cutput or usage method is particularly suitable for assets where the rate of
wase or rate of output can be easily measured. For example, a motor vehicle
qught be regarded as having a life of 100,000 miles, rather than a life of 4 years.
The depreciable amount can then be allocated to each year in proportion to the
corded mileage, for example, if 30,000 miles are covered in year 1, then 3/10 of
the depreciable amount will be charged in year 1. The life of a machine could be
defined in terms of machine hours. The annual charge would then be:

Machine hours used in the year

Depreciable amount
Total estimated life in machine hours

Revaluation or Arbitrary Valuation

The revaluation or arbitrary valuation approach is occasionally used with minor
items such as loose tools. An estimated or perhaps purely arbitrary figure for the
value of the items (in total) is chosen at the end of each year. Depreciation is then
the difference between this figure and the figure from the previous year. Strictly,
of course, this is not a method of depreciation at all, but a lazy alternative to it.

All of the above methods can be criticized on the grounds that they ignore
the fact that the resources “tied up” in the fixed asset concerned have an actual
cost to the business in terms of interest paid, or an implied (opportunity) cost in
terms of interest foregone. This could well be regarded as an essential expense
that should be matched appropriately against the benefit from the asset. The
“actuarial” methods that attempt to take account of interest expense are compli-
ated to apply and in financial accounting are hardly ever used.

OBSERVATION: The process of depreciation calculation is not designed to
produce balance sheet numbers that are either particularly meaningful or particu-
larly useful as measurements of value; in fact, they are measurements of

unexpired costs.
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It must be remembered that depreciation is a process of matching expenses
in proportion fo benefits. Given that the depreciable amount has been agreed,
the annual charge is based on actual or implied assumptions as to the pattern of
benefit being derived, and nothing else. In simple bookkeeping terms, all that is
happening is that a transfer is being made from the non-current assets section in
the balance sheet to the expenses section in the income statement. It is the

expense that is being positively calculated, not the reduction in the asset figure. It
follows from this that:

1. The asset figure for an intermediate year has no very obvious or useful
meaning. It can only be defined in a roundabout way. For example,
under historical cost accounting, it is the amount of the original cost not
yet deemed to have been used or not yet allocated. This intermediate
figure is often called “net baok value,” but it is not a value at all within
the proper meaning of the word.

2. Depreciation has nothing to do with ensuring that the business can
“afford” to buy another asset when the first one becomes useless. This
is true even if we ignore the likelihood of rising price levels. Deprecia-

tion does not increase the amount of any particular asset, cash or
otherwise.

3. However, depreciation, like any other expense figure, does have the
effect of retaining resources (or total assets) in the business. By reduc-
ing profit, we reduce the maximum dividend payable (which would
reduce resources) and, therefore, increase the “minimum resources

remaining” figure. This is, in fact, a particular illustration of the idea ¢f
capital maintenance discussed in Chapter 10.

-

IASB GAAP

An early standard on depreciation, IAS 4, has long been withdrawn. IASB GAAP
on depreciation are now contained in IAS 16, “Property| Flant, and Equipment,”
IFRS 3, “Business Combinations,” and IAS 38, “Intangible Assets.”

PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT

IASB GAAP for the accounting treatment of property, plant, and equipment is
provided by IAS 16. Originally issued in 1981, IAS 16 was revised in 1993,
effective January 1, 1995, and revised again in 1998, effective accounting periods
beginning on or after July 1, 1999. The 1998 changes were essentially concerned
with consequential amendments arising from the issue of IAS 36, “Impairment of
Assets” (see Chapter 20), and IAS 37, “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities, and

Contingent Assets” (see Chapter 29). Further amendments have been made
regularly.

The standard notes that the general definition and recognition criteria for an
asset given in the “The Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting” (dis
cussed in Chapter 2), must be satisfied before IAS 16 applies. Subject to that, IAS
16 applies to accounting for all property, plant, and equipment except when
another IAS requires or permits a different accounting treatment (par. 2).

N

Chapter 28: Property, Plant, and Equipment 28,009
There are, in fact, a number of exclusions. It is explicitly stated (par.. I.’)) that
1AS 16 does not apply to biological assets related to agncultu%'al activity (to
yhich IAS 41 applies; see Chapter 35), nor to mineral rights and mineral reserves,
ch as oil, natural gas, and similar non-regenerative resources. How?ver-, it does
. ly to property, plant, and equipment used to develop or maintain these
ElP'fi)‘;rities or assets but separable from those activities or assets. IAS 16 does not
acply to property, plant, and equipment classified as held for lsale in accord..anc:a’
:\Em IFRS 5, “Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Dingntmued Operations
(see Chapter 27). TAS 16 also does not apply to thg recognmcl)tn and mgammemen(’;
of “exploration and evaluation assets” as defined in IFRS 6, “Exploration for an
fyaluation of Mineral Resources” (see Chapter 37).

An enterprise applies IAS 40, “Investment Property,” rather than IAS 16, to
s investment property (see Chapter 25). With effect from January 1, 2009, ‘IAS 40
applies to prope:rty being constructed or devglqped'for future use as E{n invest-
ment property. IAS 40 also applies to existing investment property being
redeveloped for future continued use as investment property.

In-2009, IFRIC 18, “Transfers of Assets from Customers,” was issued, apply-
ing oruopectively to transfer of assets received fro.m customers aftc'er July L 2009.
Tuis addresses the requirements for agreements in which an entity receives an
sem of property, plant, or equipment from a customer and s required to use ﬂ*.tat
item either to connect the customer to a network or to provide the customer .w-1th
ongoing access to a supply of goods or services (such as a supply of electricity,
gas, or water).

If the item meets the definition of an asset in the IASB’s "Flramework. for the
Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements,” the entity recognizes th.e
asset as property, plant, and equipment. The cost of the as'set on initial recogni-
fion is its fair value. The fair value of the total consideration recew{_ad or
receivable (including the fair value of the asset) is jallocated.to EE.lCh service or
supply and the revenue for each service or sup_ply is recogngd in accordance
with TAS 18, “Revenue.” Note that IFRIC 18 is withdrawn, effective from the date
of adoption of IFRS 15 (see Chapter 32).

In June 2014, effective from 1 January 2016, IASB issued amel.ndments to IAS
16 and to IAS 41, “Agriculture,” relating to “bearer plants” .(defmed below). In
simple terms, a vine, which “bears” the growing grapes, 1s an example of a
bearer plant. The vine is a fixed (non-current) asset, and the grapes are a current
asset (and are agriculture produce). The new requirements transfer the treatment
of the bearer plants, but not of the crops growing on ’rhem,. from IAS 41 to IAS 16.
This significantly changes the measurements methods available. See-also Chapter
35, “Agriculture,” which discussed this in detail with some observations.

If any other IAS permits a particular approach to the initial recognition pf
the carrying amount of property, plant, and equipment, then that standard Wl-}&
prevail regarding this initial carrying value, but IAS 16 wquld then apply to a
other aspects, including depreciation. An example of this would !Je IFRS 3,
“Business Combinations,” which requires property, plant, and equipment ac-
quired in a business combination to be measured initially at fair value (see
Chapter 8).




